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A Young Nick Allen Story 

By

Allen D. Nicklin

Prologue

Stradtroda Hospital

Germany

2nd April 1942

My darling Polly

I hope this letter finds you well and I’m sorry that I haven’t written earlier, but as you may have guessed I have been captured by the bloody Germans. I don’t know how long I will be kept here before I am moved to a Prisoner of War camp, but I’m in a pretty rough state so it could be quite a while. 

It happened last July; I was flying in my A.W.38 Whitley when I was shot down over Eindhoven in Holland. We all managed to parachute out, there were five of us. Unfortunately Ken Staughton died but the rest of us landed safely. Soon after landing the Germans were on us. Archie Taylor and I got separated from the other two and we hid in an irrigation ditch. We held out there for a while but were pinned down by a German sniper, who managed to hit me in the side. Archie then decide to make a dash for it. I told him I didn’t think I could make it and he said ‘never mind, you’ll be alright’ and with that he was gone. I stayed there for a while until I was found by a dog. When the Germans came I surrendered but they still shot me in both legs. I was helped by a kind German orderly who cut me out of my flying suit, put me on a stretcher and I was taken to a hospital, run by nuns, in Krefeld. The nuns were really horrible and treated the patients very badly. My right leg went gangrenous and I was transferred to Res Laz Hospital in Dusseldorf. After two operations on my legs I was moved to Dulag Luft Hospital at Hohemark. This was up in the mountains, where there was lots o snow, it was very beautiful. I was put in solitary confinement and interrogated regularly. I told them nothing. Yesterday I was transferred here. I still need a couple more operations before (hopefully) I can walk properly again.

I hope you are keeping well and it’s the thought of seeing you again that keeps me going.

All my love

Charlie

xxx

Sunday 07 June 1964
Nick Allen was in a reflective mood as he sat all alone in his living room. It was a beautiful sunny afternoon and his parents had taken his younger brother Richard swimming at the Cottonmill swimming pool. Nick unfortunately wasn’t allowed to go, due to the fact that he was recovering from a bout of German measles.  He still had a rash on his face and body but, according to his mother it should clear up any day now and thankfully the itching had stopped. As the infection was contagious he hadn’t had many visitors. He hadn’t seen much of his two best friends, Keith Nevin and Don Patrick. Keith was away for the weekend with his parents and Don hadn’t had German measles so his parents wouldn’t allow him to visit. Thinking back he realised that he hadn’t really seen much of Keith for the last month. Keith had a girlfriend called Moira Harris, who he was seeing quite a lot of and since Nick was unattached they couldn’t go out on foursomes. Carol, Nick’s first and only girlfriend so far had chucked him seven weeks ago (not that he was counting) and he was still trying to come to terms with the rejection. He had banned his family from mentioning her name, but was reminded of her every time his mother gave him two poached eggs for breakfast.  He had heard through the grapevine that she was now dating a boy called Roger Connolly, who ran for the County and was due to have trials for the National team. I can do better than her, he said to himself, I mean, I’ve got a date with Christine Keeler when I’m eighteen, if she’s out of prison. But, he had to admit to himself that he missed touching Carol’s pert little breasts.

He made himself a cup of tea and put on his new LP, which he has saved up for. It took a few weeks to accumulate the £1 12s 3d to buy the new Rolling Stones L.P. He hardly heard first track Route 66, as his mind wondered back over the last few weeks. Spurs had finished fourth in the league, they had won their last game 1-0 at home to Leicester, and John White scored the only goal. Nick thought that John White was a great player and his favourite pop star Cilla Black had reached Number one for one week with You’re My World.
 There were only seven weeks to go before the end of the school year and his parents had booked the family a week’s holiday at Dovercourt, a Warner’s holiday camp near Harwich in Essex. They said that Nick needed a break after all the scrapes he had been in over the last year. He was brought back to reality when he noticed side one had finished. He quickly turned the LP over and listened to one of his favourite tracks I’m a King Bee. The next track was entitle Carol which always brought a lump to his throat. He was just about to skip that track when he heard a knock on the front door. He got out of his seat and opened the door and was surprised to see Keith’s girlfriend Moira standing there.
‘Hello,’ she said, smiling, ‘I was just passing and I thought I’d pop in and see how you are. Can I come in?’

‘Erm, I’m not sure, I think I’m still contagious….’
‘Don’t worry about that,’ she interrupted. ‘I’ve had German measles, so I’m immune.’

‘Well, in that case, please come in, I could do with some company.’

Nick escorted Moira into the living room.

‘Would you like a cup of tea?’ he asked.

‘Thank you,’ she replied.

‘Okay, well make yourself comfortable, I won’t be long.’

Nick made his way to the kitchen and put the kettle on. He thought how nice Moira looked; she was wearing a pretty, light blue mini dress. She had nice legs and her breasts looked a little bigger than Carol’s. She was also very pretty. Although they had been out a few times as a foursome, he had never really spoken to her in a one to one situation. When the kettle had boiled he poured the water into the teapot then left to brew whist he searched the larder for some biscuits. He was in luck, he found two Wagon Wheels. 
As he poured the tea, he shouted out, ‘how many sugars?

‘Two please,’ was the reply.

Nick felt a little uncomfortable as the sat there drinking their tea and eating their Wagon Wheels.
‘I like this album,’ said Moira. ‘It has some good songs on it. I especially like Tell Me.’

‘It’s one of my favourites too,’ replied Nick. ‘So, how’s it going with Keith? Must be nine weeks now.’

‘Yeh, it’s okay. He’s a nice lad.’

Nick laughed.

‘What’s funny?’ asked Moira, with a big smile on her face.

‘Nothing.’

 ‘Oh come on, what’s funny?’

‘You’ve been going out with him for about nine weeks and the best you can say is that he’s nice.’

Moira laughed. ‘What do you want me to say? That I’m madly in love with him and my world would fall apart if he wasn’t mine.’

‘No, of course not; but I thought something in the middle.’
‘Keith is a nice guy and I enjoy his company, but I’m not in love with him and I don’t plan to marry him.’

‘I think fourteen is a bit young to start thinking of marriage.’

‘You know what I mean. Anyway, I was sorry that you and Carol broke up.’

‘Just one of those things, still three weeks, that’s a record for me.’

‘How can that be a record, it was your first girlfriend?’

They both burst out laughing.

‘Anyway,’ Moira continued. ‘She wasn’t right for you. She only went out with you because you scored that winning goal. Now she’s going out with that running chap. If you ask me she’s turning into a right groupie. You deserve someone better.’

For the next hour they talked, laughed and took the Mickey out of each other. It was when Moira looked at her watch and said ‘my, look at the time. Mum will wonder where I’ve got to.’ She stood up, ‘thank you for the tea and biscuit and I’m glad you’re on the mend,’
They walked into the hall and Nick opened the front door. Moira turned and gave Nick a kiss on the cheek. As she pulled away their eyes met and a strange feeling came over him. Then she said goodbye, turned and walked away. Nick closed the door behind and stood momentarily very still.

Tuesday 09 June 1964


By Tuesday Nick was thoroughly bored, his rash had disappeared and for once he was really looking forward to going back to school. His mum had said it was okay for him to go out and mix again with his friends. So after his tea he phoned Keith and Don to see if they were free. As it happened both of them were at loose ends and were delighted to hear from him and they arranged to meet at Nick’s house at six thirty. Keith suggested that they play cricket on the green. He had found an old cricket bat in the attic and was dying to give it a go. Unfortunately neither boy had a proper cricket ball, but Nick said he had decent tennis ball which would suffice. 


Nick’s younger brother Dick asked if he could play, so the teams were selected; the Allen brothers would be playing against Keith and Don, or Australia v England. Keith won the toss and elected to be England. Keith would be Geoff Boycott and Don, Fred Trueman. Australia was represented by Bob Simpson aka Nick and Dick who considered himself a decent wicketkeeper would be Wally Grant. They used a sapling tree for a wicket; Nick stuck a twig in the protective metal mesh for the bails. Twenty two yards were pace out and indicated by Dick’s jumper. The Rules were agreed, single wicket, if the ball went on the road – 4 runs and no l.b.w. The rest would be made up as they went along. Keith would bat first, Don would field, Dick behind the wicket and Nick would bowl. The game flowed along quite nicely; Dick was thoroughly enjoying himself diving every time the ball came to him. Keith batted solidly until being caught and bowled for 35. Don was next into bat and had reached 10 when a middle aged man approached them. The boys were just about to make a dash for it, thinking he was a council ranger. There was a notice on the green that clearly indicated that no ball games were allowed. 

Reading their minds the man said, ‘Don’t go lads, I just want a quick word.’

The boys thought that he looked friendly enough, so waited to hear what he had to say.

‘Hope I didn’t frighten you,’ he said. ‘It’s just that I’ve been watching you and I just wondered if you fancied playing for a proper team.’

‘Go on, we might be interested,’ replied Nick, folding his arms and giving the man the once over. His was about mid-forties, clean shaven, fair hair and a rugged complexion. 
‘I’m starting up an under 15 team, I’ve got about ten boys interested so far and we’re having a practice or trial if you like next Saturday; interested?’
Nick looked at Keith, then Don; each gave a subtle nod.

‘I’m up for it’ shouted Dick. ‘You won’t find a better wicket keeper.’

‘I’ve been watching young lad and you show a lot of promise, but I think you need to wait a year or two.’

‘Shit!’ said Dick, picking up his jumper.
‘Okay, we’ll give it a go. Where is this practice happening?’ said Nick.

‘Next Saturday, Verulamium Park, one o’clock, upper pitch.’

‘We’ll see you there. By the way I’m Nick, that’s Keith and he’s Don. And you are?’

‘Sorry, I should have introduced myself, I’m Archie. Archie Taylor.’

The boys in turn shook hands with Archie and watched as he made his way to his blue Ford Zephyr 4.

‘What do you think?’ asked Keith, as he tried to rub a mark off his bat.
‘He seems a nice bloke, could be quite good. I’ve never played in a proper match have you?’ replied Nick.

Both Keith and Don shook they heads.

‘Hopefully it should keep us out of trouble.’

Saturday 13 June 1964
Nick was feeling rather excited and looking forward to the cricket practice. Keith and Don were expected at 12:30 and they would venture down the lake together. When his dad asked him what he was going to wear he had to confess that he hadn’t really thought about it. His dad told him that if you want to impress you must look the part and to look the part he needed to wear white. Nick admitted that he didn’t have any cricket whites and he couldn’t afford to buy any. Luckily his dad had an old pair tucked away and he could use those. His mum, who was a dab hand with the needle, said that she would alter them, so they wouldn’t fall down. His mum also said that he could wear one of his white schools shirts as he needed new ones for the next school year. So, along with his white plimsolls, Nick looked the complete cricketer. 

At exactly 12:30 Keith and Don knocked on the door. Keith was sporting a brand new pair of cricket whites and a white t-shirt. Don was wearing his white football shorts and a short sleeved white cotton shirt.

‘All set?’ asked Nick.

‘Raring to go,’ replied Keith, playing an imaginary cover drive with his old bat.

‘See you brought your bat.’

‘Of course, it feels like an extension to my arm.’

Nick loved Verulamium Park and never needed an excuse to visit. As he walked towards the cricket pitches he turned to admire the magnificent cathedral rising majestically up out of a sea of green trees. When the boys arrived at the upper pitch there were about a dozen lads eagerly anticipating the practice. The stumps were in position, one boy had claimed the wicket keepers pads and the others were throwing balls at each other. Archie spotted them immediately and called them over.

‘Hi lads, I’m so glad you could make, looks like we have a good turn out. Let me introduce you to our captain.’

He called over another boy.

‘This is Victor Farmer; sorry I’ve forgotten your names.’   

Nick replied ‘I’m Nick, this is Keith and this is Don; pleased to meet you.’
‘Likewise,’ said Victor, as he shook each boy by the hand.

Nick guessed that Victor was maybe a year older than him, slim, athletic looking and immaculately dressed for the occasion. It was clear this boy knew his cricket. 

‘So tell me lads, what are you, bowlers, batsmen or all-rounders?’

Keith was first to answer, ‘I’m an opening bat, Nick fancies himself as a spin bowler and Don is the all-rounder.’

 Since when could I spin a ball thought Nick?
For the next two hours each boy had a turn at batting and bowling whilst Victor often stopped the play to help each boy improve their technique. He showed Nick how to leg spin, showing him how to hold the ball with two fingers up and two down, with the split between the second and third fingers, which are spread across the seam. He explained that the spin on the ball is roughly 30 degrees so that the ball both spins sideways and dips with the overspin. He showed Keith how to play a forward defensive shot and tried to explain that it is not necessary to try and hit every ball out of the ground. Keith’s guess that Don would be a good all-rounder proved correct as he did extremely well with both bat and ball. At the end of the session the boys said their farewells to Archie and Victor and thanked for the kindness and support. Archie said he would ring them during the week with details of a match next Saturday
The boys were feeling pretty pleased with themselves as they said goodbye to the rest of the team. 

‘I think that went really well, this old bat certainly knows where the boundary is,’ said Keith, still playing defensive shots and deft little dabs to fine leg.

‘I didn’t realise you were such an accomplished batsman,’ replied Nick.

‘My dad taught me, he used to play Minor Counties cricket before the war, but hasn’t played since. I still prefer football, but cricket just comes naturally to me.’

‘Well I think we all did jolly well’, interrupted Don. ‘Do you think we’ll make the team next week?’

‘I hope so,’ replied Nick. ‘There are a few useful players there but I think we could hold our own.’

What do you think of the captain, Victor what’s-his-name?’ enquired Keith.

‘Doesn’t smile much,’ commented Don.

‘I like him,’ said Nick. ‘He’s knows his cricket, gave me a lot of useful tips about my bowling. But I know what you mean. Actually I did see him smile once, you know, when Don collided with that other player trying to catch the ball. He’s got quite a nice smile.’

Don grimaced ‘I can’t believe that, he was much nearer to the ball than me and he shouts “yours”. I could have caught it, but he just stood in my way; unbelievable.’
As the boys approached the lake, still taking about their cricket practice they noticed a group of lads in a circle throwing something to each other. As the approached they could clearly see that in the circle was a young schoolgirl desperately trying to retrieve her school satchel. There were five boys; all dressed similar in skin tight jeans, black or white T-shirts and black leather jackets. Nick estimated that they were, maybe a year or two older than him. The girl, clearly distressed was about eleven years old, wearing a school uniform of black skirt, black jacket with a school logo and a cream blouse. The boys were laughing and mocking the girl as she frantically chased her satchel, as it was thrown repeatedly over her head.

Keith sensed what Nick was thinking and said, ‘Don’t get involved Nick, we don’t want any more trouble.’
Nick turned and looked at Keith and said, spitefully, ‘We can’t just let them do that, look at the poor thing, she’s in tears. Come on back me up, we’ve handled worse than this. Remember what Mr Campion used to say “bullies are always cowards”. Anyway, they might just give her the bag back, if we ask nicely.’

Off Nick went towards the group, leaving Keith and Don slowly following behind. ‘Okay lads, you’ve had your fun, I think you should give the little girl her bag back and let her be on her way.’

The boy nearest to Nick, a scrawny youth with sharp features and a bad complexion, turned to face him, snarled and said, ‘what do we have here then?’ Come to rescue your girlfriend?’

He turned to the rest of the group who, on cue started laughing.  

‘Five greasy Rockers against one little schoolgirl, hardly a fair contest,’ mocked Nick.

The boy raced towards Nick and pushed him on the shoulders. Nick was taken a little by surprise, stumbled and fell on his backside. The boy turned again to receive another chorus of laughter. Nick sat there for a second, and then got to his knees. The boy hovered over him. Nick brought his right leg forward and just before he got to his feet, he grabbed the boy round his thighs and in one swift movement stood up and dropped him over his body. A perfect Back Body Drop; Kent Walton would have been proud of me thought Nick, those hours watching Saturday afternoon wrestling have not been wasted. The boy was clearly winded and Don ran towards him and stood on his chest, not allowing him to move. Keith rushed to Nick’s side, brandishing his cricket bat and shouting, ‘anyone else fancy their chances?’
The remaining boys, clearly not interested in any more aggro, walked away mumbling things like ‘just having a bit of fun,’ ‘no harm meant,’ ‘bloody psychos.’ When the boys were a safe distance away Don removed his foot off the remaining boy and said ‘go on, clear off before I get really angry.’ The boy didn’t need to be told twice as he scampered away after his mates. Nick smiled and looked towards Keith and Don and said ‘told you, no bother.’ In there excitement they had temporality forgotten the little girl, but were quickly reminded when she rushed over to Nick and gave him a great big hug.

‘My hero,’ she gasped. 

Nick gently prised her away and blushing he said ‘anytime.’
‘You were like Robin Hood and his Merry men rescuing the Lady Marion from the evil Sheriff of Nottingham or St George rescuing the damsel in distress from the dragon or Robert Taylor as Ivanhoe and……….’

‘Yes, yes we get the idea. Now tell us your name and why are you all alone.’

‘Okay,’ she said in a positive manner, ‘sit down and I’ll tell you my story.’

The boys did as they were told and sat down in a small circle ready to listen to the little girl. Nick looked at her and thought how pretty she was. She had a slight Mediterranean complexion and olive green eyes. Her long shoulder length hair was a rich brown with gentle waves and a smile that would break many hearts in the years to come.
She began; with her slightly high pitched voice, and a confidence that belied her years, ‘my name is Caroline Cohen, I’m eleven years old and I attend the Manchester Grammar School for Girls. I’m on a school trip, visiting various Roman sites. I was on my way to see the Roman Theatre when I needed to go to the toilet. I have a weak bladder, but you do not need to know that. I told my teacher and said that I would catch them up. Unfortunately I was intercepted by that group of Neanderthals, and well you know the rest.’  

‘So, where have you been so far?’ asked Nick, fascinated by this little girl.

‘Well, we have seen the Cathedral, the Roman Wall and the Hypocaust. Next, as I mentioned is the Roman Theatre and then we finish at the Museum.’  

‘Sound really good, but as much as we like sitting here talking to you I think we had better get you back to you teacher.’

‘Okay,’ she said, brushing the grass off her shirt, picking up her satchel and grabbing Nick’s hand. ‘Do you know where the Roman Theatre is?’

‘Of course,’ replied Nick. ‘And along with my faithful companions we shall deliver you safely to your teacher.’

Caroline looked at up at Nick and gave him a big smile. Nick smiled back and thought, Oh god. Caroline held Nick’s hand very tightly as they made their way to the exit by St Michaels Church.

‘Did you know that St. Alban was the first British Christian martyr? On his way to the execution, he had to cross a river, and finding the bridge full of people, he made the waters part and crossed over on dry land. And the executioner was so impressed with Alban's faith that he also converted to Christianity on the spot, and refused to kill him. Another executioner was quickly found (whose eyes dropped out of his head when he did the deed). After Alban was executed, they executed the first executioner  who become the second British Christian martyr,’ said the confident Caroline.
‘That is interesting,’ replied Nick, thinking, how does she remember all this stuff.
‘And,’ Caroline continued, ‘did you know that after Thomas Beckett was murdrered in 1170 he was made a saint by Pope Alexander III and his shrine became the most famous in Europe. Of course this had an affect on the town of St Albans because the pilgrims stopped coming here and going to Canterbury instead. So the new Abbot of St Albans, Simon, borrowed lots of money and made St Alban’s shrine more impressive. When Simon died the money had not been paid back and all the moneylenders came in person to dun the new Abbot. One of them was a Jew called Aaron of Lincoln.’

They had reached Blue House Hill and were waiting to cross the road to the entrance of the Roman Theatre when Keith said, ‘I think that’s you teacher over there.’

They all looked across the road to where a smart looking woman in her mid-forties was waving frantically. When the road was clear the three boys escorted Caroline across towards her teacher.

‘I believe she’s one of yours,’ said Keith, eyeing the teacher up and down.
‘Oh Caroline, I was getting so worried. We thought you had been abducted,’ replied the teacher, bending down and inspecting her.
‘Don’t worry your pretty little head,’ said Keith, taking the lead. ‘There was a minor problem but my friends and I took charge and brought the young girl safely back to you.’

Nick, for a moment wondered what had got into Keith, then he realised. The teacher was wearing a neat pleated shirt and a very tight roll neck jumper which showed off her impressive bosom. She had a hard, but pretty face, and her prematurly grey hair made her look older than she really was. Visably relived the teacher said, ‘thank you boys, you are very kind. Now say thank you, Caroline and go and catch the other girls up.’
‘Yes Miss,’ she replied, and reached up and gave Nick a big kiss on the cheek. With that she ran towards the theatre.

‘I hope she wasn’t to much of a problem.’

Keith replied, ‘no problem at all, and it’s been a real pleasure meeting you.’ He offered his hand and she gently shook it. ‘Oh, and my names Keith.’ 
As the three boys walked down Blue House Hill Nick said to Keith, ‘what’s all this “oh, my names Keith”?’

‘I don’t know what you mean.’

‘You fancied her, didn’t you?’

‘Course not, just being friendly.’

‘I know you Keith Nevin, she was just your type.’

‘What do you mean, my type?’

‘If my memory serves me right, and Don will back me up on this, when asked yesterday for three woman that you fancy, you said - Jayne Mansfield, Diana Dors and Sabrina. Don, what do all these women have in common?’

‘They have an excess of bosom,’ Don replied.

‘Delicately put, Donald.’

‘And our Miss Jean Brodie definitely had an excess of bosom.’

‘Who’s Miss Jean Brodie?’ whispered Don.

‘It’s a book my mum recently read about a prim and proper teacher in a Scottish Girls School set in the 1930s.’

 ‘Okay, okay, so I found her a bit attractive, nothing wrong with that is there? Anyway It’s better than fancying an eleven year old,’ retaliated Keith
‘I didn’t fancy her, if anything she fancied me.’

‘She sure did,’ laughed Don.

‘I think you getting desperate, Nick Allen. You haven’t had sniff since Carol chucked you.’ snorted Keith.’ 

‘Alright, I liked her, but not like that. She was intelligent, funny  and she had lovely green eyes.’

‘See I told you,’ laughed Keith. ‘It’s not natural fancying eleven year olds.’

‘If I could just butt in for a minute,’ said Don. ‘Let me get this straight – according to Keith it’s unnatural to fancy a girl three younger than yourself BUT alright to fancy a woman thirty years older. I’ve got a lot learn.’

Nick and Keith burst out laughing, put their arms around Don’s shoulders and Keith said, ‘stick with us kiddo and we’ll teach you all you need to know about women.’

‘God help me,’ replied  Don.
As they walked back towards Nick’s house, Nick said, ‘you must admit that when she get’s older, that Caroline will be a stunner, way out of our league.’

Keith and Don nodded in agreement. 

Wedneday 17 June 1964

Nick was just helping himself to a second helping of his mum’s delious homemade rice pudding, making sure that he didn’t get any of the skin, when the phone rung. Mr Allen, who was nearest, answered it, then said ‘it’s for you Nick.’ 

Mr Allen passed the phone to Nick.

‘Hello, Nick Allen speaking.’

‘Hi Nick, it’s Archie Taylor, just to let you know that you, Don and Keith have been selected to play on Saturday.’

‘That’s great; have you phoned the others or shall I tell them?’

‘That would be good if you could phone. We’re playing at Sandridge Grammar School, do you know it?’

‘I go there.’

‘Even better; I hope you don’t mind me asking, but could you get there a bit early to help me mark out the pitch and get the ground ready?’

‘No problem; what time would you like us?’

‘Well the game starts at two, be there for twelve, that will give us plenty of time.’

‘Sounds good, by the way who are we playing?’

‘Panshanger Boys club.’

‘Never heard of them……and what are we called?’

‘Do you know in my excitement I haven’t thought of a name.’ Nick heard a chuckle. ‘I’ll think of one by Saturday. See you then.’


Nick phoned Don and Keith and quickly arranged  a practice session for seven o’clock
As they were pacing out the twenty two yards Keith said ‘any luck with a new girlfriend yet?’

‘Afraid not,’ replied Nick, placing a house brick down at the bowlers end.
‘Listen, I’ve got a plan, we’ll get you a date by the end of the evening.’

‘And how do you reckon to that?’

‘Lots of girls live on this estate, right?’

‘Right.’

‘Well one or two are bound to walk past. When they do, I’ll hit the ball towards them. You run after it, making sure that you get a near as you can, then ask them out.’

‘Just like that?’

‘Well, you might have to say something first, like how nice they look.’

‘And you think it will work?’

‘What’s the worst that could happened?’

‘Apart from me be totally humiliated?

‘Just an idea.’

‘Okay, but only the decent looking ones’

So it was arranged, Keith would bat and Nick and Don would take turns in bowling. They didn’t have to wait long.

‘Here’s one, she looks alright. Do you know her?’ asked Keith, shielding his eyes from the glare of the sun.
‘I know her, she’s nice. Her name is Susan James,’ replied Nick, getting a little excited.
‘Let’s do it.’

Don bowled a full toss to Keith’s legs and he hit it beautifully to square leg in the direction of Susan. Nick chased after it, but not to fast, allowing the ball to go within six feet of her.

When he caught up with it, he looked at Susan and said, ‘hello Susan.’

‘Hello Nick,’ she replied, looking down her nose.

‘Can I ask you a question; I’ve been meaning to ask you for ages?’

‘Go on.’

‘Did it hurt when you fell out of heaven?’

Susan let out a big sigh before saying, ‘If you want to ask me out, just ask me.’ 

‘Sorry; would you like to go out with me one evening?’ replied Nick, feeling a little more confident.’

‘Piss off.’

Nick ran back to the bowlers end.

‘How did you get?,’ shouted Keith.

‘She’s a bit busy at the moment,’ said Nick, feeling his face turn very red. 

Five minutes later Keith noticed another girl walking towards them. 

‘Shall we try this one?’ asked Keith. ‘Do you know her?’

‘Seen her about, don’t know her name.’ replied Nick, not too enthusically 
The boys performed the same routine and when Nick came face to face with the girl he said, ‘do you believe in love at first sight or shall I walk past again?’

The girl looked at Nick curiously the said, ‘you’re Nick Allen aren’t you?’

Confidence rising again, Nick replied ‘so you’ve heard of me?’

‘Certainly have, they said you were weird and they were right.’

Nick returned to his friends and said, ‘she’s already got a boyfriend.’

After a few more overs, the light was diminishing and the sky became overcast. Nick could feel a few spots of rain.

‘Lets call it a day, I think it’s going to rain.’

As the boys gathered their things Keith noticed another girl walking up the pavement.

‘One more go,’ he said.

‘You must be joking, look she’s ginger,’ replied Nick, as he started to walk towards his house. 
‘What’s wrong with ginger girls?’ asked Don.

‘Nothing’s wrong with ginger girls, but you can’t be seen going out with one. Think of my street cred.’

‘Cilla Black’s ginger.’

‘I know Cilla Black’s ginger, that’s different.’

‘How is it different?’

‘It just is, anyway, her’s is out of a bottle.’ 

‘I know her,’ said Keith. ‘Anne-Marie; she’ll let you look down her knickers for a shilling.’
‘Charming,’ replied Nick.

‘Waste of money,’ said Don.

Nick and Keith both looked at Don and said, ‘what do you mean, waste of money, have you had a look then?’

‘Of course not, but I found a magazine in my dad’d bottom draw. It had lots of totally naked women in it and there was nothing down there to see.’

‘And what was this magazine called?’ asked Keith.

‘Health and Efficiency.’ 

‘You can’t actually see anything because they blur that particular region. Even if you look at it through a magnifying glass….. not that I’ve tried or anything.’

It was Keith’s turn to blush as Nick and Don burst out laughing.’

Saturday 20 June 1964

It was just after noon that the three boys arrived at the school gates, looking immaculate in the makeshift cricket whites. They had agreed to meet Archie on the school playing field. The boys were really excited and talked of nothing else as they cycled all the way. They parked their bicycles in the bike shed and walked through the school buildings to the playing field.  Nick commented how strange it seemed without the buzz of students running around. It felt like a ghost school. As they walked towards the cricket square Nick looked out across the playing field towards the adjacent farmer’s fields full of wheat and other crops and thought how beautiful it looked.  The sun was high in the sky, a slight breeze cut across the field, a perfect day for cricket. Keith was still practicing his forward defensive shots when Nick noticed something strange in the far corner of the field.

‘What’s that hanging from that tree in the corner?’ he asked, straining his eyes to see.
‘Looks like an old sack,’ commented Don.
They quickened their pace, and then started running towards the tree.

‘I don’t think that’s a sack,’ said Nick, now sprinting.

Then suddenly, about ten yards from the tree they stopped. It was not a sack hanging from the tree, it was Archie Taylor. 

They just stood there staring, before Don said, ‘Do you think he’s dead?’

‘Well he’s not moving, but we better take a closer look.’

As they approached Archie, they could see his face was the colour of claret and his eyes, prominent in their sockets, their whites discoloured with specks of red. Nick went to feel the pulse in his wrist, but the hand was deathly cold. He pulled his hand away and sunk to his knees.   
‘Why is it always us?’ he shouted. ‘Why can’t I have a normal life like other kids?’

‘I don’t like this,’ cried Don. ‘I’m scared.’

‘Okay,’ said Keith, taking command. ‘Go and call the police, Don. Just knock on the first house that you think has a telephone.’

Don didn’t need telling twice as he ran across the field like an Olympic sprinter. Keith turned back to Nick and said ‘come on mate pull yourself together. You’re the one and only Nick Allen – the people’s champion.’

 Nick chuckled ‘which pratt said that?’
‘I think it was that temporary Sports Master, do you remember him, Mr Large.’

‘Oh yes, I remember him; the one with the odd shape balls.’

‘That’s better, come on let’s take charge of the situation. Why do you think he committed suicide?’

‘But was it suicide, let’s stand back and observe.’

The two boys stood back a few yards and assessed the scene. The body was hanging from the main bough of the tree which was about ten feet from the ground. The rope was connected to the bough by a neat round turn and two half hitches and to Archie’s neck with a perfect hangman’s noose. The noose was to the left of Archie’s neck. The length of rope between Archie’s neck and the bough was about four feet, which left Archie’s feet dangling about 12 inches from the ground.
‘How did he get up the tree?’ asked Keith. ‘I can’t see him climbing, there’s nothing to get hold of.’

‘And why would he do it here of all places and how did he get here? Did you see his car parked anywhere?’ replied Nick.

‘Well, to tell the truth I wasn’t looking out for his car. I was too excited about the match.’

‘Fair point, but this doesn’t look right. I think he was murdered.’

‘How did I know you were going to say that? But for once I agree with you. Look at that tree there are no scuff marks to indicate he climbed up there.’

Before Nick could answer, his train of thought was interrupted by the sound of a police siren. A minute later two police cars came speeding across the field to where Nick and Keith where standing. First on the scene was Detective Constable Higgins whom Nick had met before. ‘Hello, hello, hello, what do we have here then?’ asked DC Higgins.
Nick looked at Keith and shook his head and held back on a clever witticism. 

‘Did you find the body?’ asked DC Higgins, taking out his notebook.
Nick looked around then at Keith and said, ‘nobody else here, must have been us.’

DC Higgins gave Nick a dirty look then recognised him. ‘Oh not you again; moved along from kidnapping rabbits, have we?’
‘Don’t know what you mean, officer. We just came here to play cricket and we stumbled across this; just in the wrong place at the wrong time.’

‘So you came all this way to play cricket, just the two of you.’

‘I can vouch for them, officer’’ said a voice behind him. 

It was Victor Farmer, Don was with him. ‘I’m the captain of this cricket team and we have a match here at two o’clock. These lads arrived early to help Mr Taylor mark the pitch out.’

‘And where is this Mr Taylor?’ asked DC Higgins.

‘I do believe that’s him hanging from the tree.’ 

The uniformed police taped off the area, the police photographer took photographs, before the body was cut down and taken away in an ambulance.  Nick, Keith and Don gave their statements before being allowed to go home.

The boys were in a solemn mood as they cycled home. As they said goodbyes to Don, Keith said ‘are we still okay for tonight? We need a distraction; it will take our minds of the Archie’s death. 

The boys had arranged to go to a ‘Mammoth Fun Fair’ on the Cottonmill Estate complete with a Grand Firework Display. Keith was taking Moira; Don had agreed to accompany Moira’s sister Elizabeth. Unfortunately Nick was still unattached.
‘Looking forward to it,’ said Nick. ‘Come round my house at seven, and then we can call for Moira and Elizabeth on the way.’

When Nick arrived home, his mother was sitting at the kitchen table having a good old gossip with her best friend and next door neighbour Margaret Stuart; or affectionately known as Auntie Marge.

‘You’re home early dear,’ said Mrs Allen, looking surprised to see Nick. ‘And look at the state of your trousers; you’ve got mud on the knees.’

‘Don’t fuss mum, I’ve have a bad day,’ he replied as he slumped on the vacant kitchen chair. ‘The game was called off.’

‘Why’s that love, didn’t the other team turn up?’

‘We found Mr Taylor, you know, I told you about him. He runs our team and he arranged the game.’

‘Go on.’

‘Well, we found him hanging from a tree, looks like he committed suicide.’

‘Oh my poor thing,’ said Mrs Allen, as she stood up and hugged Nick.

That’s awful,’ said Auntie Marge.’ Did you call the police?’

Nick nodded, ‘yes, it’s all in hand.’

‘What you need is a nice cup of sweet tea. The kettle just boiled, I’ll make a fresh brew.’ 
When Nick had finished his tea and explained all that had happened he retired to the living room, turned the TV on and watched the second Test Match between England and Australia which was being played at Lords. Nick smiled to himself as he thought – everyone on the estate will know about this by the morning. Auntie Marge is like the Bush Telegraph.
As usual Keith and Don knocked on the back door at exactly seven o’clock. Nick thought that they must wait outside until the exact time before knocking; their punctuality was just too perfect. Even though Nick didn’t have a date he had decided to dress really smart. He had recently purchased a new pair of Levi jeans and a light blue Fred Perry shirt. His mum had treated him to a pair of brushed suede Hush Puppies and along with a pair of dark sun glasses; he thought he looked the business. Moira lived in the same street as Nick, about 200 yards away. They knocked on the front door and were invited in by Mrs Harris, Moira’s mum.

‘Come in dears,’ said Mrs Harris with a broad Irish accent. ‘The girls won’t be long. Their just finishing off making themselves look gorgeous.’

Mrs Harris was about the same age as Nick’s mum, pretty with a fuller figure. 
‘So Nick, how’s you mum, haven’t seen her for a while?’

‘She’s fine thanks, Mrs Harris,’ replied Nick nervously. 

‘You’re looking very smart tonight Nick, who’s the lucky girl?’

‘I don’t have a date tonight, Mrs Harris.’

‘Please call me Mary.’

‘Yes, Mrs Harris.’

‘I can’t believe that; a good looking boy like you. If I wasn’t married I’d snap you up straight away.’

Nick blushed.

‘Ah, look at him; he’s gone all shy.’

Nick was saved from any further embarrassment by the arrival of Moira and Elizabeth. All three boys simultaneously stood up. 
‘Don’t they look a picture,’ cooed Mrs Harris. ‘I must take a picture; go on stand together in the light. That’s lovely,’ 

When the photo was taken they all said goodbye to Mrs Harris. Unfortunately Nick was the last to leave and was accosted by Mrs Harris. She gave him a big squeeze and a kiss on the cheek. ‘Have a nice time,’ she shouted before closing the front door behind them.

‘Is your mum always that full on?’ asked Nick.

‘Not normally, she usually doesn’t pay much attention to any of the boys I bring home. That was out of the ordinary. I think she’s taken a shine to you.’

‘That’s understandable,’ replied Nick, having got his composure back. ‘After all, she’s only human.’ 

The 325 bus took the happy gang all the way to Cottonmill and from the bus stop it was just a short walk to the fair. The fair was situated on the edge of the estate adjacent to the old mill. Even though it was still early the lights from the rides and stalls still shone out like the Blackpool illuminations. 

‘Where shall we go on first,’ cried Elizabeth, the excitement getting the better of her.

‘Let’s look around first, we’ve got lots of time and the fireworks don’t start till nine,’ replied Moira, grabbing Elizabeth’s hand before she ran off.
After wandering around the various attractions, saying hello to the many friends and acquaintances they met, they decided the first ride would be the Octopus. Once fastened in their seats they enjoyed a fast exciting ride that not only gave a sew-saw motion, as the arm rises and falls, but a wildly spinning sensation as the car rotated quickly. 

‘Wow, I enjoyed that,’ exclaimed Don, as he clambered out of the car. ‘What’s next?’  

‘How about the Twist?’ asked Moira.
‘Sounds good to me,’ replied Keith.

This ride, known in the UK as the American Twist is an open-top machine with an elevated 4-arm spider frame. Revolving shafts are suspended from each arm carrying smaller spider frames, each mounted with four cars.

When that ride was over Elizabeth announced that she would like some candy-floss. The stall was quickly located and they all battled to consume the mass of sticky pink spun sugar. As they walked round the stalls, trying to ignore the cries of the vendors to try whatever their stall had to offer Elizabeth said ‘come on boys, which one of you is going to win me a Teddy Bear.’

They had reached the shooting gallery where you could win a Teddy Bear of various sizes using either an Air-gun, a bow and arrow or even six darts. The boys accepted the challenge and after spending more money than they intended, they were presented with the smallest bear on offer. Nick, who always thought he was a decent shot, was sure that the sights on the air-guns were out of true; still, Elizabeth was happy.

‘What do fancy next, Nick? It must be your choice now,’ asked Keith.

‘Okay,’ said Nick, looking around. ‘How about a nice gentle ride on the Carousel?’ 

‘Excellent.’
The ride was just about to start as they jumped on the platform and each found themselves a brightly coloured horse. As the ride started the Nick noticed the attendant walking round collecting the fares. Nick immediately recognised the greasy looking rocker, with his white t-shirt, skin tight jeans and spotty face. 
‘Hello Joey,’ said the girl on the horse directly behind Nick. ‘Gonna give me a free ride?’

‘Come back to my caravan later and I’ll give you a free ride. If you know what I mean, darling,’ replied Joey, gyrating his hips, Elvis fashion.
Nick hoped that Joey wouldn’t recognise him. He had the exact change and handed it to him without looking him in the face. Joey took the money and moved on without saying a word. When the ride was over Moira suggested that take a ride on the Ghost Train. Nick still had a small worry about Joey. He told them that he didn’t fancy the Ghost Train and he needed a wee. He would meet them by the hot-dog stall in ten minutes. Nick walked out of the entrance to the fair and made his way to the small river that ran alongside the field housing the fair. He knew Joey was following him. He walked about 100 yards before turning and facing his pursuer. 
‘Can I help you?’ asked Nick, inquisitively. 
Joey, who was now swinging a bicycle chain, replied, ‘we’ve got some unfinished business.’

Mr Campion, Nick’s late self-defence teacher, told him that if an opponent has a weapon, like a baseball bat or the like, get in close. The closer you are the more difficult it is for them to swing at you. Nick stared to approach, never taking his eyes off his opponent. As soon as he was in touching distance he suddenly moved his head and looked over Joey’s shoulder. Joey’s reaction was to following Nick’s glance, which gave Nick just enough time to deliver a perfect right-hook on Joey’s chin. He was out cold before he hit the ground. Nick looked around, no-one saw him. He quickly bent down and removed Joey’s belt and used it to tie his hands behind his back. He then dragged Joey’s limp body into a bush and dumped it there. Before he went back to the fair he gave Joey a quick kick in the ribs.  

By the time Nick had arrived at the hot-dog van his friends where tucking into their jumbo hot-dogs with onions and lots of mustard.

‘Where have you been?’ asked Moira. ‘We were getting worried.’

‘Sorry,’ Nick replied. ‘Lost track of time.’

‘And what have you done to your hand?’

‘Nothing,’ he replied, automatically giving it a rub. ‘Tripped over.’

‘Come on,’ said Don. ‘Let’s go and get a good spot to watch the fireworks.’

Elizabeth and Don followed my Moira led the way to the adjacent field. Keith stayed back to walk with Nick.

‘Are you okay mate?’ asked Keith. ‘I saw that bloke follow you out.’

‘No problem, he’s sleeping it off under some bush. Didn’t want the girls to see, didn’t want to spoil their evening.’

‘Sometimes you’re so thoughtful; I’m surprised you haven’t been made a Saint.

The rest of the evening continued without any worry or trouble. The firework display was spectacular and was accompanied by lots of ooo’s and aaah’s. 
Sunday 21 June 1964

Nick woke up at about seven o’clock Sunday morning and had the sudden urge to go to church. It was about two years ago that he went through his religious period. He attended confirmation classes and subsequently got confirmed, but over the last year his attendance on Sunday mornings had waned. He wanted to say a prayer for Archie Taylor, but the added attraction was that a certain girl, named Mary Hyde, would be there. He had fancied Mary for a long time, but whenever he had plucked up the courage to ask her out she already had a boyfriend. It was convenient that the last delivery on his paper round was actually opposite St Michael’s Church. 
Nick completed his paper round without incident, which means not being attacked by any of the vicious dogs. He left his bicycle along with delivery bag in a quiet corner of the churchyard and managed to get settled five minutes before the Family Communion at nine o’clock. The service was run-of the-mill, the sermon, uninspiring, and the only hymn Nick was familiar with was Dear Lord and Father, which happened to be one of his favourites. He spotted Mary just a few pews in front of him, but she had some new boy in tow. As he queued to take Holy Communion he had managed to smile at Mary, she smiled back, but he would have to wait a little longer.

It was about eleven o’clock that things got interesting. Nick had finished his breakfast of egg and bacon with fried bread and was totally engrossed in the News of the World when there was a knock on the front door. Mr Allen answered it and was heard to say, ‘come in officer, he’s in the living room.’

Nick looked up and was surprised to see Detective Inspector James.

‘Hello Nick, nice to see you again,’ said DI James.
‘Nice to see you too,’ replied Nick nervously. ‘What can I do for you?’

‘It’s about the death of Archie Taylor, I just need to ask you a few questions.’

‘I gave a statement to the wooden-tops yesterday.’

‘I know, but things have taken a dramatic change.’

Nick beckoned DI James to sit down.

‘You mean you think he was murdered, I could have told you that yesterday.’

‘I’m sure you could,’ replied DI James, biting his bottom lip. ‘Unfortunately DC Higgins doesn’t possess you great intuition.’

Nick smile and said nothing.’

‘So,’ said DI James taking out his notebook. ‘What led you to deduce that he had been murdered?’  

‘Many things, first – there was no suicide note. Two – why commit suicide there? Three – how did he get there? No sign of his car. Four – how did he climb the tree? Also, although I had only known him a short while, he was enjoying life; he loved his cricket and was really looking forward to the match. Need I go on?’
‘I see, that’s very similar to our way of thinking.’

‘Have you found anything that might help with our theory?’

‘Well, I shouldn’t really tell you but the preliminary post-mortem revealed some interesting facts.’

‘Go on.’

Archie had consumed a rather large amount of Whisky and according to his wife he never touches the stuff. Also the palms of his hands were burnt. At first we thought they were rope burns. You know, where he tried to free himself, but on closer inspection they were inflicted by a blow touch.’

‘So, to stop him trying to escape,’ interrupted Nick.

‘Exactly,’

There was a pause, both man and boy deep in thought.

‘What do you know about hanging,’ asked DI James.

‘A little,’ replied Nick. ‘I researched it once, when I was bored. Basically, if my memory serves me correct there are four main forms of hanging. One – short drop hanging where the prisoner drops just a few inches, and their suspended body weight and physical struggling causes the noose to tighten, normally resulting in death by strangulation. Two – suspension hanging where the executee is lifted into the air; death is the same as short drop hanging.   Three – standard drop hanging where the prisoner drops about 4-6 feet, which may or may not break their neck. And last – the long drop hanging, which has been practiced in Britain since 1874. The distance of drop has been calculated according weight and height. How am I doing?’
‘I would worry about you if you were my son.’

‘Tell me about it,’ said Mr Allen, shaking his head.’

Nick shrugged his shoulders. At that point Mrs Allen entered carrying a tea tray.

‘Thought you might like a cuppa.’

‘That’s very  kind,’ said DI James, taking a cup.

‘Help yourself to sugar; I’ll just fetch the biscuits.’

After a brief interlude Nick said ‘I would guess that Archie died of strangulation.’

‘Exactly,’ said DI James. ‘If he’d committed suicide he would have, perhaps sat on the branch and slipped off. A four foot drop would have caused some sort of damage. But there was absolutely no sign of that. I would guess that whoever did this nasty deed, plied him with drink, got him to stand on something like a beer crate or box, strung him up then took away the box and left him dangling there. Of course this is just between me and you. As far as anyone is concerned we are treating this as suicide. So keep it to yourself, actually I don’t know why I’ve told you.’
‘I have that affect on people; they find me easy to talk to.’

Nick heard Mr Allen snigger.

Nick continued, ‘have you spoken to Mrs Taylor?’

‘Yes, but only briefly, yesterday to tell her the bad news. I’ll try a formal interview later today. Is there anything else you can add?

‘Not really,’ but there was something that was bothering Nick, but he just couldn’t put his finger on it.’

‘Well if you think of anything, let me know. You’ve got my number.’ 
DI James thanked Mrs Allen for the tea and biscuits and was shown out by Mr Allen

When Mr Allen returned he said, ‘what do you think of that?’

‘Well dad, I think it’s obvious – the Ol’ Bill are clueless again and they want me to help.’

‘Oh, and how do you suppose to do that, Sherlock?’

‘Well dad, it’s like this – how well did you know the deceased?’
It turned out that Mr Allen was acquainted with Archie Taylor; he had met him on several occasions in the British Legion and the Farriers Arm public house. 

Mr Allen, who had now stopped worrying about Nick’s adventures or so he made out, told Nick all he could about Archie Taylor – which wasn’t much. He was a quiet, well spoken man, who liked his beer, dominoes, darts and cricket. He had spoken to him a few times, but could not be classed as a close friend. There conversation was interrupted by another knock on the front door. Mrs Allen answered and Nick heard her say, ‘hello Moira, he’s in the living room.’ 

Nick stood up to greet Moira.

Mr Allen also stood up and said, ‘I’ll leave you to it, got some gardening to do.’
When they were alone Moira said ‘just wanted to thank you for taking us to the funfair last night.’

‘I didn’t take you, Keith did.’

‘You know what I mean; anyway how’s you hand?’

‘Oh, it’s fine; just a little bruised.’

‘Who did you hit this time?’

‘Don’t know what you mean.’

‘You can’t fool me, Nick Allen.’

Oh, just some thug who wanted to wrap a bicycle chain around my head.’

‘So he deserved it then?’

‘Absolutely’

‘That’s alright then. Now let me have a look at that hand.’

Moira grabbed Nick’s hand, inspected it, then said, ‘let me kiss it better.’ She pressed Nick’s swollen hand to her lips. She then slowly removed the hand from her mouth but didn’t release it, starring seductively into Nick’s eyes. Nick could feel a stirring sensation in the trouser region as his head moved slowly towards Moira’s. There lips were about an inch apart when Nick suddenly said ‘I bought a new record yesterday, would you like to hear it? It’s Juliet by the Four Pennies.’ Nick broke way and started fumbling in his record collection.
‘He it is,’ he said after a frantic search, and quickly put it on the turn-table.
‘You didn’t buy this one yesterday,’ she said. ‘It’s been out ages. Anyway it’s a bit girlie for you.’
‘I like love songs.’ 

‘Oh bugger it,’ he whispered to himself. Then he walked slowly towards her, put his arms gently around her waist and kissed her passionately. When they eventually came up for air she smiled and said, ‘I’ve waited so long for that.’
‘So have I,’ he replied.

Still smiling at each other, they kissed some more. After a while they sat down on the settee, hand s firmly locked together.

‘What happens now?’ asked Nick.

‘Easy, I’ll chuck Keith this afternoon and start going out with you.’

‘Not a good idea, I couldn’t do that to my best friend.’

‘Why, don’t you like me?’

‘You don’t know how much I like you. It’s painful just to see you with Keith. But no, we must keep our feelings to ourselves, for the time being. Hopefully he’ll tire of you, then that way no-one gets hurt.’
‘You are so thoughtful, Nick. You could never hurt anyone. They’ll make you a Saint one day.’

‘Someone else said that recently; but I don’t feel very saintly today,’ he said as he put his arms around her and squeezing both cheeks of her bottom. ‘Come here gorgeous.’
Monday 22 June 1964

The sun was high in the sky and its rays beating down on Nick and Keith as they sat on the grass at the edge of the school playing field during the lunchtime break. Their dinner had consisted of a non-descript meat, lumpy mash potatoes, over boiled cabbage and gravy; they both declined the tapioca. pudding. The playing field was quite busy; an impromptu game of football had just started with jumpers as goal-posts and a tennis ball..
‘I suppose you want to talk about Archie Taylor,’ asked Keith, frantically searching his pockets for a half eaten tube of Polo mints.
‘Don’t you want to find out who killed him?’ replied Nick, with his hand out, waiting expectantly.
‘Do I have much choice?’

‘Not really, how’s Moira?’

‘She’s fine, why do you ask?’

‘No reason, just being friendly…….You know how concerned I am about your welfare. Your happiness is my happiness.’

‘Of course you are, but she was a bit funny when I saw her yesterday. Seemed a bit distant; like she had something on her mind.’

‘That time of the month, most probably.’

‘Of course; anyway how are we going to solve this murder?’

‘Well I’ve been thinking, we need some background information on him. I’ve spoken to my dad and he said he was just a regular guy, Quiet, but quite popular. I think we should start by visiting Mrs Taylor.’
‘Do you think that is wise; after all it’s only two days since he died.’

‘Good point, but we did find him, so it’s only right we pay our respects.’

‘Okay, do we know where she lives?’

‘Portland Street, I looked it up in the Kelly’s Directory.’

‘Well done, we’ll visit her tonight.’

At precisely seven o’clock three smartly dressed youths knocked on the front door of the late Archie Taylor. Within a minute the door was answered by an attractive forty-something year old woman dressed in black. She had a round face with blond hair tied in a bun. Her eyes were red and she spoke with a strong Dutch accent.     

‘Can I help you?’ asked Mrs Taylor.

‘Sorry to bother you on this sad occasion, but we felt that we had to pay our respects, because it was us who found Mr Taylor,’ said Nick in a solemn voice.

‘That’s very kind of you, please come in.’
She led the boys through to the living room and beckoned them to sit down. The room was clean but unremarkable. A few photographs were on display showing Mr and Mrs Taylor posing together at different ages and locations. A few sympathy cards adorned the mantelpiece. 

Nobody spoke and Nick was starting to feel uncomfortable, then Mrs Taylor said ‘sorry, how rude of me. Would you like a glass of lemonade?

Nick said ‘no thanks,’ at the same time as Keith said, ‘yes please.’

Mrs Taylor smiled and said, ‘This is very difficult for all of us, I’ll make some lemonade. Perhaps a slice of Victoria sponge will go down with it.’

As the boys enjoyed their delicious ice cold lemonade and very tasty cake the tension in the room started to ease.
‘How long have you known Archie?’ asked Mrs Taylor, raising a small smile.
‘Not very long,’ replied Nick. ‘Well actually only two weeks. He spotted us playing cricket on the green and he approached us and asked if we wanted to play for his team. We had a practice match last Saturday and our first match would have been on Saturday.’
‘He was really looking forward to the match. It was always his dream to run a boys cricket team. You see, we were never blessed with children of our own and I think he needed this. That’s what make it so difficult to understand why he committed suicide.’

‘What have the police said?’ asked Keith.

‘Not much really, they said there would be a post-mortem. Hopefully that might shed some light on why he did it.’

‘How was he during the last week, did he seem worried about anything,’ asked Nick.

‘No, he was fine; as I said he was really excited on Friday night. I told him to go and have a couple of beers to calm down. He normally goes to the pub on Fridays on the way home from work, but I sent him out again after his tea. That was the last time I saw him. He never came home. I waited up for him, but I must have fallen asleep. I woke up at about seven o’clock and when I realised he wasn’t here I phoned the police to report him missing.’
‘How often did he go out?’

‘He always went out on Tuesdays to play dominoes at the British Legion and play Darts for the Farriers Arms on Thursdays. They were his regular nights out, other times he took me out. He occasionally popped in the Farriers Arms for a quick pint; he preferred it to the Portland Arms or the Blue Lion. He likes McMullen’s beer.’
Don, who so far had not said a word, asked ‘where did he work?’

‘Marconi’s, he worked in the warehouse. He was very happy there.’

‘Your accent tells me you’re Dutch, how did you meet?’ asked Nick.

Mrs Taylor smiled, ‘it is a very romantic story. Would you like to hear it?’

 Nick had noticed how relaxed Mrs Taylor was becoming, it was clear that talking about her late husband had a soothing effect.

‘During the last war, Archie was shot down over Holland. He was the only one of the five man crew to survive. He somehow managed to avoid capture by the Germans and he made his way to the coast. I lived in a small farm on the outskirts of Voorburg. I found him one morning hiding in our barn, he was very ill. I nursed him for many months until his health returned. It was very difficult because the Germans were constantly searching for British Airmen. During this time we had fallen madly in love and we couldn’t bear to be parted. We got married in September 1942 and Archie joined the Dutch Resistance. Then in 1947 we moved to England.’
‘Has Archie any other family,’ asked Don, after downing the last few drops of his lemonade.
‘No, only me; he was an only child. His parents were quite old and they both died within a few months of each other in 1950 from TB.’

There was a short silence, before Don said, ‘do you have any more of this delicious lemonade?’

‘Of course,’ replied Mrs Taylor, smiling as she made her way to the kitchen.

Nick looked at Keith and Don and said, ‘I think we’ve got enough information to get started. We’ll finish our lemonade and then be on our way.’
Tuesday 23 June 1964

Nick, Keith and Don had decided that their next port of call would be the British Legion; so straight after their tea they cycled down Verulam Road to the St Albans Branch of the British Legion. They walked through the main door into a small foyer. A small Octogenarian sat at a table with a large book in front of him. He wore a smart blazer with a row of medals over a crisp white shirt and a British Legion tie. On his head he wore a black beret. 
‘Can I help you?’ asked the old man, looking up from his book.

‘We just want a quick word with the club steward,’ replied Nick anxiously 

‘Are you members?’

‘Do we look like members?

‘Can’t come in unless you are members.’

‘Okay,’ said Nick, getting a little agitated ‘How do we become members?’

‘Have you been in the Armed Forces?’

‘No.’

‘Are you over eighteen?’

‘No.’

‘Then you can’t become members.’

‘I’ve been in here loads of times before.’

‘Were you signed in?’

‘I came with my dad.’

‘Are you with him today?’

‘No.’

‘Then you can’t come in.’

Nick then noticed that the old man’s half pint mug was nearly empty.

‘I’ll buy you a beer if you let me in.’

‘Are you trying to bribe me?’

‘Yes!’

‘Okay, half of Best.’
‘Thank you,’ said Nick as he walked through the door to the main bar.
‘I was at the Battle of the Somme, you know. Where are you going?’ asked the old Man, looking at Keith and Don.

‘I’m with him,’ said Keith, grinning.
‘And I’m with him,’ said Don

The three boys walked into the main hall and approached the bar where Jack Thomas, the club Steward stood polishing glasses. Jack was a burley character with rosy cheeks. He reminded Nick of a Toby Jug.

‘Hello young Nick, what brings you in here?’ asked Jack. ‘And how did you get past Howard?

‘Bribed him with half a bitter, you don’t mind?’

Jack laughed ‘I think you’ve been had. Sit yourself down while I’ll take it out to him.’

Jack picked up a fresh glass and poured out Howard’s beer.

‘Did he tell you he was at the Battle of the Somme?’

They all nodded.

Jack laughed. ‘He did his basic training, was shipped out to France on the Friday, got shot in the leg on Saturday and was back in England by Monday. Nice little weekend visit.’

‘What about all those medals?’ asked Keith, inquisitively. 
 ‘Let’s just say that Howard likes his Jumble Sales,’ said Jack, tapping his nose. 

The hall was not the most inviting place, tables and chairs set around the perimeter; a small dance floor to the left and a dartboard. The walls were adorned with boring wallpaper, a notice board, a trophy cabinet and small wooden plaques with Army Regiment Crests.  

Jack returned and sat opposite the boys, ‘Now how can I help you?’
‘What can you tell us about Archie Taylor, we believe he came in here quite often?’ said Nick

‘Looking into his death are you? I heard that it might be a bit suspicious.’

‘We don’t believe he killed himself, if that’s what you mean. We’re making a few discreet enquires, so this interview is strictly hush-hush.’

Jack smiled, ‘so you’re helping the Police out, are you.’

‘Not really, this is an independent enquiry. We may assist the Police if they ask nicely.’

Keith cut in to join the conversation ‘We occasionally do some consultancy work for the Police, but it’s normally for British Intelligence.’

Jack laughed, ’kids of today, what imaginations. So you’re telling me you’re some kind of James Bond.’

‘Don’t be silly,’ laughed Nick. ‘James Bond works for MI6, we work for MI5.’

‘Okay, I’m a busy man, what do you want to know?’

‘We believe that he comes in here every Tuesday night to play for the Dominoes team.’

‘No.’

‘No what?’

‘No, he doesn’t play for the Dominoes team. He comes in here every Tuesday between half nine and ten, but he doesn’t play dominoes. Anyway they only play here every other week when they have a home fixture.’

‘That’s interesting. Have you noticed anything unusual about him? Did he seem agitated, did he speak to any strangers, anything different about him?
‘No nothing like that. He always seems a bit down on a Tuesday, but other times he’s always happy; a contented sort of chap.’

Nick stood, shook hands with Jack and said, ‘thank you for your time, you’ve mean most helpful.’

Nick, Keith and Don left the hall, walked past Howard who smiled and raised his glass and said ‘cheers.’

‘Cunning ol’ bastard,’ whispered Keith.

Once outside the boys sat on the small wall in the front of the Legion.

‘What do you think?’ asked Nick.

‘Well……I think that Archie was seeing another woman. He tells his wife he’s going to the Legion but he has to pop in there before going home to cover himself,’ replied Keith. ‘Then her husband found out and in a rage of passion did the deadly deed.’
Don said, ‘my uncle Fred said “your must always be one step ahead and cover your tracks”. Once he told me he’d been shagging his secretary all night and before he went home he stuck a bit of chalk behind his ear. When his wife started moaning at him and asking where he’d been all night he said that he was fed up with her nagging and he’d been with his secretary having a good time. She called him a lying bastard and said I know you’ve been up the pub playing darts you’ve still got the chalk behind your ear.’

‘When does his divorce come through?’

‘Next week.’   
‘No I don’t think it’s as simple as that. He didn’t seem the type. But somehow we need to find out where he was going every Tuesday. I think tomorrow we’ll pop up to the Farriers Arms and have a word with the landlord. Are you seeing Moira tonight, Keith?’

‘Yes, I said I’d pop in after this.’

‘Okay, we’ll ride with you.’

The boys cycled gently to Moira’s house where Nick and Don said goodbye to Keith and cycled on. Nick was feeling extremely jealous.

Wednesday 24 June 1964
Keith had asked Nick if they could visit the pub as soon as it opened as he had plans for the evening. Don was unavailable due to some after-school activity. This meant that the boys had to hang around until five thirty when the pub opened. They had a ramble around the market but most of the stall-holders were packing away. They treated themselves to a milkshake at Christopher’s before cycling down Lower Dagnall Street to the Farriers Arms, a small unassuming back street public house. The pub was empty when they entered and walked straight up to the bar. They were approached by an elderly man who reminded Nick of Jack Walker, the landlord of the Rovers Return in Coronation Street. 
What can I do for you?’ he asked.

‘Two pints of Best and two pickled eggs,’ replied Nick in his deepest voice.

‘You cheeky beggers, gone on, clear off.’

‘Just joking,’ laughed Nick. ‘I’m Nick Allen, Stan Allen’s son; we would just like a quick word.’

‘Oh, so you’re Stan’s son, I’ve heard a lot about you. He’s always telling me about the scrapes you get into. Says you remind him of Tom Sawyer, you’ll either be Prime Minister or end up in prison.’
‘We just want to know about Archie Taylor. What can you tell us?’

‘Not much really, quiet chap, keeps himself to himself. Good dart player though, plays for the team.’

‘Has anybody been asking for him or upset him lately?’

‘Nothing springs to mind. ….Would you like a glass of lemonade and a packet of crisps?

‘You’ve very kind, that would be great.’

‘Potato or these new cheese and onion flavour?’ 
‘Not those Cheese and Onion,’ exclaimed Keith. ‘They make your breath smell and I’ve got a hot date tonight.’
‘I didn’t think you were seeing Moira tonight,’ asked Nick looking concerned.
‘I’m not I’ll explain later,’ replied Keith sheepishly.
‘By the way, mine names Reg, I’m the landlord,’ he said as he threw two bags of Smith’s Crisps towards Nick, before bringing the drinks to their table.

‘Cor blimey,’ exclaimed Reg suddenly.’

‘What is it?’ asked Nick, looking up after his frantic search for the little blue bag of salt.
‘I just remembered something; A few Fridays ago there was a stranger in here. Sitting where you are; Archie was playing darts. Big bloke he was, forearms like Popeye and he had a tattoo. Well he sat there with about an inch remaining of his pint. I thought, is he ever gonna finish it. Then, as soon as Archie went to the bar, he downed it in one, got up and walked to the bar and stood next to him. Archie looked as if he’d seen a ghost. All the colour drained from his face. I didn’t hear what was said as I was busy serving another customer. By the time I went to serve them Archie had grabbed his jacket and left. I asked the stranger what had said to upset Archie. He replied nothing it was just a case of mistaken identity. The stranger has been in a few times since, but not in the last couple of weeks.’

Clearly excited Nick said, ‘Is there anything else you can tell us about him, for instance, did he give a name?’

‘No I never got his name, but he did walk with a limp.’

‘What about the tattoo?’ asked Keith. ‘Can you describe it?’ 

‘Actually I can, I’m fascinated by tattoos. There was a big red heart with a dagger next to and a banner wrapped around them with the name Polly.’
‘Anything else?’ asked Nick.

‘As I said he was a big bloke, weathered face, about fifty and short cropped ginger hair.’

At that point two customers appeared in the pub.

‘Hope that’s helpful, better start serving,’ said Reg, as he stood.

‘You’ve been brilliant, thanks a lot,’ said Nick, then turning to Keith. ‘Who are you seeing tonight, I hope you’re not cheating on Moira.’

‘Of course not, well not exactly. It’s complicated.

‘Go on.’

‘Well my mum’s friend asked her to ask me if I wouldn’t mind taking her daughter to the cinema. There’s a film that she’s eager to see, but she’s got no-one to with. I couldn’t really say no.’

‘Are you going to tell Moira?’

‘I don’t think so, best she doesn’t know. I mean it’s totally innocent but you know how funny women are.’

‘So what’s she like, this…..daughter of your mum’s friend?’

‘Who Brenda, she’s fifteen, with an enormous pair of bazookas.’

‘And that wouldn’t have anything to do with it?’

The boys sat there quietly as they finish off their lemonade and crisps.

After his tea Nick was at a loose end and was bored. I know, he thought, if Keith’s at the pictures with bazooka girl, perhaps I’ll pop down and see if Moira fancies a walk. Changing out of his school uniform he put on his freshly ironed Levis and a crisp white t-shirt, dabbed on some of his dad’s Old Spice aftershave and made his way to Moira’s house. He walked past a couple of times before building up the courage to knock on the door. Mrs Norris answered.

‘Hello Nick,’ she said. ‘How can I help you.’

 ‘I was just passing and I thought I’d see how Moira was. Is she in?’

‘I’m afraid not, she’s out with her friend Dympna.’

‘Oh well never mind.’

‘I’ve just put the kettle on, do you fancy a cup of tea.’

‘No thanks,’ replied Nick, panicking a little. ‘Better get home; mum will be worrying where I am. Thanks all the same.’

Nick quickly left and made his way home.

Saturday 27 June 1964

Nick returned from his paper round Saturday morning in an extremely good mood. The investigation had come to a temporary halt; they had made no progress on where Archie went on Tuesday nights or the identity of the mystery man from the Farriers Arms. Today was they were attending the St Albans Beat Group Contest being held at Westminster Lodge. Thirteen groups would battle it out for the first prize of £25 and an audition with the Harold Davison Agency. Apparently they promote the Dave Clark Five, the Applejacks and the Mojos.  The contest started at 10:30 am and would finish at 2:30pm when the top six groups would be announced and they would go through to the finals which would start at 7:30pm. A well known local disc jockey called Nigel King would handle the proceedings. The first session cost 2/6 and the evening session 7/6; Nick, Keith and Don were amongst the first in the queue. Moira was going to join them for the evening session. It seemed a bit strange listening to the groups at that time of the day and the venue didn’t seem right, brick walls with industrial pipes running down the walls. But this didn’t stop the boys having a whale of a time. There were three groups from St Albans whom the boys had elected to support, Unit Five, Peter D and the Veraiders and the boy’s favourite The King Bees. The King Bees played a mixture of Rhythm & Blues and semi-commercial music. Their line up was Nick Holland, Terry Wade, Graham Hiskett and Simon Smith. Of the three groups, only The King Bees made it to the final stages. At the end of the first session the boys caught the 321 bus up Holywell Hill to St. Peters Street. Nick thought it was like coming out of the cinema in the light, not natural.  
The evening session was even more exciting, approximately a thousand people packed into the hall to see the final stage of the contest, with the added bonus of seeing the Barron Knights with Duke D’Mond. The final six groups were:
· The Rocking Couriers

· The Dominators

· The Trekkas

· The King Bees

· The Cortinas

· The Leesiders Sect

Nick and his friends had an amazing evening and Nick had managed to hold Moira’s hand without anyone noticing. In a tightly fought contest the Cortinas from Hatfield won by just one point. The Trekkas from Welwyn Garden City came second and the Kings Bees were placed third. After the results were announced the Cortinas were asked to do the final set. But before that the crowd raised the roof with the appearance of the Barron Knights. The highlight of the evening was the performance of their (soon to be released) single Call up the Groups
 which was extremely well received.
Sunday 28 June 1964


‘I’ve passed go, so I collect £200,’ said Gwendolyn, Nicks cousin.   

As customary, when Nick’s Uncle John and Aunt Laura visited for tea on a Sunday Nick had to play Monopoly with his twelve year old cousin. Nick didn’t mind the occasional game and he got to use the Top Hat as it’s a home fixture. Aunt Laura was helping Mrs Allen in the kitchen and Mr Allen and Uncle John were in the living room with Nick and Gwen. 

‘What are you up to these days, Nick?’ asked Uncle John, refilling his pipe with Wills, Cut Golden Bar ready rubbed tobacco

‘Not much, just trying to solve a murder’ replied Nick, throwing a four and landing on Trafalgar Square.
    Uncle John laughed, but Mr Allen said, ‘You think he’s joking, well I’m afraid he’s not. You know Archie Taylor, the one who hanged himself. Well Nick found him and between me and you and the police they suspect foul play.’
‘Good luck to you lad, and if there’s anything I can do just ask.’

‘Don’t know where he used to go every Tuesday evening do you?’ asked Nick casually.
‘Well actually I do,’ said Uncle John, sitting up straight and feeling important.

Nick jumped down from the table, ‘Do tell, Uncle John…….and keep you fingers away from the bank, Gwen.’
‘As you already know I work at Hill End Hospital, on Tuesdays I do a couple of hour’s overtime, so I leave about seven thirty. Well, most Tuesdays I always saw Archie cycling into the grounds.’

‘What was he doing there?’

‘I think he was visiting someone, not sure who, but he was regular as clockwork.’

‘This is a definite breakthrough; do you know what ward he was visiting?’

‘As a matter of fact I do, it was the Huxley Ward.’
‘Thanks, Uncle John, you’re the best.’

Nick went back to the table, picked up the dice, threw a ten, landed on Park Lane and said, ‘I’ll buy that’
The best bit about the visit of Uncle John and Aunt Laura is that they always visited the Blue Anchor public house in the evening. Nick loved the Blue Anchor, a 17th century pub situated in Fishpool Street and its garden that backed on to Verulamium Park. Only the River Ver separated the two plots of land. To gain entry to the Beer Garden, one had to pass through a wooden arch which was decorated with fairy lights and the garden itself was illuminated with coloured bulbs. To Nick, this was his secret beer garden. Often on these occasions some of Nick’s other Aunts and Uncles would join them, to make a real family event. As luck would have it Mr and Mrs Harris were there along with Moira, Elizabeth and tagging along, Keith. As soon as Nick had said hello to everyone and Mr Allen had bought the drinks Nick found himself an empty table and sat down opposite Keith and Moira.

‘Any news on the investigation?’ asked Keith, putting his arm around Moira.  
‘Yes; we’ve had a breakthrough. My intelligence has revealed that Archie was visiting someone every Tuesday at the Hill End Hospital,’ replied Nick, trying not to stare a Moira. 
‘But Hill End’s a nuthouse, isn’t it?’

‘So?’

‘Well how is that going to help us?’

‘I don’t know, we’ll find out when we go there.’

‘When are you planning to go?’

‘On Tuesday, of course; who ever he was seeing will be expecting Archie, but will have the pleasure of our company instead.’
‘Can’t make Tuesday, I have an appointment.’

‘No problem, I’ll go with Don. I’m sure he would like a visit to a nuthouse.’

It hadn’t escaped Nick’s notice that all the time, during the conversation, Moira had been playing footsie under the table with him.
Tuesday 30 June 1964


Don was not a happy bunny as he cycled behind Nick on their way to Hill End hospital. Nick had tried to reassure him that there was nothing to worry about and that all the really mad patients would be locked up and the only people walking about would be the depressed ones. Don was not convinced. On arrival they made their way to the main building. Nick was impressed by the magnificent architecture of the Victorian building. They left their bicycles outside and made their way through the arch to the reception where they asked for directions for Huxley Ward. As they walked down the corridor, past the Art room and the Anderson ward they where approached by a strange man in an overcoat. Nick thought he must be about fifty and wondered why he was wearing such a heavy coat on such a warm evening...

‘Haven’t seen you here before,’ said the stranger, taking a close look at Nick.


‘Just visiting,’ said Nick, taking a step back.


‘I came to visit once,’ replied the stranger. ‘But they never let me leave, been here for ten years.’


‘But it’s nice here isn’t it? You must like it?’


‘Are you trying to be funny?’ shouted the stranger.


Taking another step back, Nick said, ‘no, just making conversation.’ 


The stranger seemed to mellow a bit, ‘It’s not too bad, it’s just the electric shock treatment I can’t stand.’


Nick could feel Don nudging him in the back, ‘well it’s been nice to meet you, but we must go.’

The boys quickly bypassed the stranger and run down the corridor towards Huxley ward. They entered the ward and not knowing what to do or where to go, just stood there. Nick couldn’t help notice the combined smell of urine and disinfectant. They were approached by large, friendly looking nurse who reminded Nick of Hattie Jacques in Carry on Nurse. 

‘Hello boys, can I help you?’ she asked, drying her hands on a paper towel.

‘I do hope so; can you tell us who Archie Taylor used to visit on Tuesdays?’ replied Nick, smiling.

‘You say – used to?’


‘I’m afraid he’s dead. 


‘Oh dear, oh dear, that is sad. You’d better come to my office. I think we need to talk.’

The nurse led Nick and Don to her office. Nick noticed the sign on the door it said, Ward Sister – Mrs Dora Williams. Sister Williams beckoned Nick and Don to sit down and she sat in her usual seat behind her desk.


‘So,’ she said, ‘what is your connection to Archie Taylor?’


Don, who was not looking particularly comfortable, just nudged Nick, as to say get on with it.


Nick started, ‘Well, we were friends with Archie and unfortunately we were the ones who found him.’


‘Hanging from a tree,’ added Don.


‘Oh my,’ gasped Sister Williams.


Nick continued, ‘we think his death may be suspicious and we’re helping the police with their investigations.’


‘They must be hard up these days,’ said Sister Williams, instantly regretting the way it came out, after receiving a very dirty look from both Nick and Don.


‘Anyway, we discovered that Archie used to visit here every Tuesday…’


‘Something the police didn’t know,’ interrupted Don, with a sarcastic tone.

‘Also, his wife was unaware of these visits; we thought it might be important.’

‘I’m impressed,’ said Sister Williams. ‘And you were right to follow it up. Archie came every Tuesday to visit his sister.’

Nick and Don looked at each other and said in unison ‘we didn’t know he had a sister.’

 ‘It’s a tragic story, Archie’s sister; her name is Sally, is what used to be called - a delicate girl. She was devoted to Archie. I expect you already know that Archie was shot down in the war and because the family didn’t hear from him, it was assumed he was dead or missing in action. Sally had a breakdown and just as she was getting better, Archie reappeared. For some reason the shock was to much and it set her back considerably and she never recovered. Their parents, who were getting on a bit, were struggling to cope so they put her away and she’s been with us ever since.’

‘But how come Archie’s wife didn’t know.’

‘There has always been a bit of a stigma where mental health issues are concerned. Not the thing you talk about in civilised society. They must have somehow kept it from her. Anyway, their parents died shortly afterwards; both contracted TB, very sad; died within a couple of months of each other. So, Sally’s with us for the foreseeable future and Archie visited every Tuesday.’
‘How was she last week when Archie didn’t show?’

‘Very distraught, we had to sedate her.’

‘How is she today?’

‘Very anxious, she’s in the day room at the moment.’

‘May we see her?’

‘I don’t see why not. But don’t tell her that Archie’s dead. Tell her that he’s busy or something.’ 


 Sister Williams stood up and led the boys to the day room. Sally Taylor was sitting by the window starring across the grounds. 

‘Hello Sally,’ said Sister Williams. ‘You’ve got visitors.’


Sally turned her head slightly and said, ‘where’s Archie?’ Nick understood what Sister Williams meant by the term ‘delicate’. She was very frail, her blond hair, turning grey was tied in a pony tail, and she was wearing a thin, pink cotton dressing gown and pink slippers. There was more than a passing resemblance to Archie.

Nick took the lead, ‘Archie’s very busy at work and he couldn’t get away, so he asked us to see if you were alright.’

This seemed to satisfy Sally, ‘he’s got a very important job, I understand.’ She continued looking out of the window.

Nick was struggling to find anything to say, ‘what can you tell us about Archie, we haven’t known him for very long.’
Nick could tell that Sally was deep in thought, then after about two minutes she said, ‘Archie’s got a secret.’

‘Do you want to share it with us?’

‘Shouldn’t really.’

 ‘I know, but I’m sure he won’t mind. After all he trusts us. He wouldn’t send anyone else to visit you.’

After another pause she said ‘One day he started crying, and said that he had to tell someone, he needed to share his burden.’

She continued staring out of the window.

‘Go on,’ encouraged Nick.

‘When Archie was in the war, he was a fighter pilot you know. Then one day he got shot down over Holland. They all managed to bail out, four survived one died. Archie and his friend Charlie got separated from the other two. But Charlie got shot and he begged Archie to help him, but the Germans were coming. Then Archie panicked and run off leaving Charlie to the mercy of the Germans. He didn’t know whether he lived or died. Archie escaped and stayed in Holland for the rest of the war. He was frightened to come back to England in case he was arrested. He married a Dutch girl then waited till the war was over before returning.’

Nick looked at Don and said, ‘I bet that was the bloke in the Farriers Arms, that’s why Archie was frightened, I bet he came back and…………’

Don gave Nick a sharp kick in the ankle and nodded towards Sally. Nick acknowledged his mistake. 
‘Thank you, Sally for sharing that with us I promise we won’t tell a soul. Well I’m afraid we have to go now, but it’s been a pleasure meeting you. And…. I nearly forgot I bought a bar of chocolate, Fry’s Milk Sandwich,’ Nick had bought it earlier to eat tonight while watching the television. ‘I’m sure you’ll like. Bye now.’ 
Sally took the chocolate bar and just starred at it. Nick and Don went in search of Sister Williams. They found her immersed in paperwork in her office. 
‘How did you get on?’ she asked

‘I think we’ve been lucky, she may have provided the vital clue for solving this case,’ replied Nick.

‘That’s good, but we need to make a decision about Archie’s death.’

‘I think it would be best coming from Archie’s wife. If I paid a visit to her and explain the situation, I might be able to persuade her to visit Sally. She’s a lovely lady, I’m sure she would understand.’

‘You’re a very kind and understanding young man, but you haven’t told me you names.’

‘The names Allen, Nick Allen and this is my associate Don Patrick.’

‘Well, it’s been very good to meet you. Do you do a lot of work for the police?’ asked Sister Williams, tongue in cheek.

Don, now feeling a little more relaxed said, ‘a little, but mostly for British Intelligence.  We’re on a special programme for gifted children.’

Sister Williams was now struggling to suppress the urge to burst out laughing said, ‘that’s very interesting, but I must say goodbye, as you can see, lots of paperwork to do,’

Nick and Don said their goodbyes and once they were out of earshot Don said, ‘patronising old cow.’

Nick laughed as they made their way down the corridor towards to main entrance. They had just passed the Art room when they were approached by a scary looking old woman. It was difficult to put an age on her, but she reminded Nick of someone you would see begging on the streets of the East End during the Victorian period.
‘Want a jig-a-jig?’ hackled the old woman.
‘I beg you pardon,’ said Nick, feeling Don cowering behind him.

‘Want a jig-a-jig?’ 

‘I’m sorry, I don’t know what you mean,’ replied Nick, trying not to offend the old woman.

‘Do you want some of this,’ she screeched as she lifted her shirt up to reveal a knickerless, very hairy, crotch.

‘Aaaaaaaah,’ screamed Nick and Don before running like greyhounds out of the traps at White City to the main building where they jumped on their bicycles and pedalled for their lives.

They cycled down Camp Road without talking. When they reached the Crown public house Nick said that he needed to visit the Police Station. Don stated that he had had enough for one evening and was going straight home. They said their goodbyes and Nick said he would phone him tomorrow. Nick made his way up Victoria Street to the Police Station. As Nick opened the door and glanced towards the desk, he was dismayed to recognise the Desk Sergeant A few moths ago Nick had been arrested for assault and it was only the intervention of a friend in MI5 that he wasn’t charged.  Nick approached the desk, hoping the sergeant wouldn’t recognise him.

‘Can I help you,’ asked the Desk Sergeant, looking up from his evening paper.
‘I’d like to leave a message for DI James,’ replied Nick, thinking so far so good.
The Sergeant picked up a pencil and prepared to write. ‘And what is the message?’

‘Tell him to meet Nick Allen in Sally’s Café at four o’clock tomorrow afternoon.’

Nick could hear the penny drop.

‘Oh, I thought I recognised you; St Albans number one thug.’

‘That’s not very nice; I was never charged.’

‘No, never could understand that; thought we had you good and proper.’

‘Can you deliver my message or would you like me to write it down for you.’

‘I can write, you know.’

‘Oh, I didn’t know that.’

‘Less of you cheek or I’ll come round there and……..’

‘Just give him the message and tell him it’s urgent; thank you,’ with that Nick left the station and cycled home.

Wednesday 1 July 1964
When Nick asked Keith if he would like to accompany him to Sally’s Café to meet DI James, he said that he was unavailable. He had already made plans. Nick suspected he was seeing Big Brenda, but didn’t mention it. DI James was already seated in a booth, sipping a double espresso when Nick entered Sally’s Café. He ordered a strawberry milkshake with ice cream and joined DI James. Dionne Warwick’s soulful hit single Walk on By was being played on the Juke Box
‘What’s with the “cloak and Dagger”,’ stuff, asked DI James.

Nick ignored the remark and asked, ‘how’s the investigation going?’

‘Slowly; we’ve interviewed Archie’s wife, his workmates at Marconi’s and all his known associates at various watering holes.’

‘And?’

‘Nothing that’s leads us to a murderer.’

Nick smiled to himself. ‘Did you interview the landlord of the Farriers Arms?’
‘Not personally, that would be DC Higgins’.

‘Interesting.’

DI James could tell that Nick was hiding something from him
‘Okay smarty pants, what have you got?’

‘I don’t know why you sent along DC Higgins; he’s a pratt.’

‘His father is the assistant commissionaire;…. who is also a pratt.’

‘Say no more. Well we have a suspect; Reg Willis, the landlord of the Farriers gave us a description of a man who was harassing Archie; big bloke, short ginger hair and a tattoo with the name Polly. According to Archie’s sister Sally………’

‘Wait a minute; according to Archie’s wife he didn’t have a sister.’ 

‘Tut, tut; do I have to do all the work on this case?’

‘Just get on with it.’

Nick went on to explain how he discovered Archie’s sister and all about their visit to Hill End Hospital. ‘I believe that this Charlie killed Archie in revenge for what happened in the war.’

‘Sounds feasible,’ agreed DI James.

‘What I need you to do is check it out through the war records, can you do that?’

‘Consider it done. You’ve done really well young Nick. I’ll let you know as soon as we find something out.’

With that DI James finished his coffee, said goodbye and left. Nick decided to hang around for a while as he had taken quite a shine to the waitress. Her name was Anna and she had a short hair style, similar to Mary Quant. She wasn’t too tall but had legs that went up to her armpits. He waited until she came to clear his table.

‘Hello Anna, how are you today?’

‘I’m fine, thank you,’ she replied and gave him a little smile.

‘I was just wondering what time you finished work today.’

‘Let me think, not sure, but it will be way after your bed-time,’ she gave another little smile and walked away.
Feeling suitably embarrassed he left the café and cycled home. Nick was feeling confused as he free-wheeled down Folly Lane. He couldn’t understand all these strange feelings that he was experiencing. He missed seeing Carol, he was definitely in love with Keith’s girlfriend Moira, and was infatuated with Anna in the café.  Last night he even dreamed about the young girl he met in the park and he dare not even think about the dream he had the other night about Miss James, the English teacher. It was then that he remembered a conversation he had the other day with Richard Martin, a class mate, who was experienced in these matters. He had the perfect solution to cure these feelings. 
Arriving home, he put his bicycle in the shed and walked into the kitchen where Mrs Allen was busy making the tea.

‘Hello dear, had a good day?’ she asked.

‘Not bad mum, is it alright if I have a bath?’

‘It’s a bit early, but don’t use all the hot water.’

‘That’s okay; I’m having a cold bath.’
Friday 3 July 1964

Nick had decided to have a quiet night in, unfortunately his favourite programme Ready Steady Go had been cancelled because of the Men’s Final at Wimbledon. But he still enjoyed watching Roy Emerson beat Fred Stolle 6-4, 12-10, 4-6, 6-3. He was just reading the latest edition of New Musical Express; Dusty Springfield was on the cover page, when he heard a knock on the front door. He heard his mother answer it and say ‘he’s in there.’
The living room door opened and Nick looked up from the article he was reading Cilla talks Heart to Heart with Alan Freeman, to see DI James standing there. Nick beckoned him to sit down. 
‘Any news?’ asked Nick.

‘You were right, all the information you gave us checked out. Both Archie Taylor and Charlie Davis flew with the RAF No 77 Squadron and they were shot down. The records show that Charlie was captured and became a prisoner of war. At first Archie was listed as missing, presumed dead, until he re-appeared two years after the war had ended.’

‘So what happens now?’

‘We just need to find him and have a little chat.’

‘Have you got an address for him?’

‘Unfortunately not; he was recently living in Thetford but he moved out a month ago; no forwarding address. I’ll keep you informed, in the meantime keep an eye out for him; he must be close by.’
DI James stood up to leave.

‘Thanks for coming round,’ said Nick. ‘I really appreciate it.’

‘No problem; any luck with that waitress?’ asked DI James, suppressing a large grin.
‘No, reckons I’m too young; still, her loss.’

DI James just chuckled.

After seeing DI James out Nick continued reading his magazine. House of the Rising Sun by the Animals was now number one and everyone was waiting for the new Beatles film A Hard Days Night which was due to be realised on Monday. After reading it from cover to cover Nick then preceded to cut all the pictures of Cilla Black out and stick them into his secret scrapbook. 
Tuesday 7 July 1964
Nick and Keith were walking back to the bicycle shed when Mrs Kelley, the school secretary came chasing after them.
‘Nick Allen,’ she shouted breathlessly, clearing not used to running. ‘I’ve got a message for you.’

The boys turned round, ‘What is it?’ asked Nick.

‘You’re mother phoned, can you pick up the sausages for your tea from the butchers. She got delayed and didn’t have time to collect them.’

‘No problem and thank you, Mrs Kelley.’

‘And please tell you mother I’m not a messenger girl, I’m the school secretary.’

‘I’m sure she appreciates you act of kindness. Its little things like that which will help you get into heaven.’

‘I’m sure my place in reserved.’

‘I doubt it,’ whispered Keith. ‘She’s a miserable old bat.’

Are you riding with me to sample the delights of Stanford the Butchers?’ asked Nick.

‘Can’t tonight, got an appointment.’
‘There’s something you are not telling me. You always seem to have an appointment. Are you seeing Big Brenda?’

‘Define seeing.’

‘You know what I mean; are you two-timing Moira.’

‘Define two-timing.’

‘Don’t be smart. Look I know you are my best mate, but I wouldn’t like to see Moira hurt.’

‘It’s complicated.’

‘It always is…explain!’

‘It’s not like I’m going out with Brenda. It’s like this, her parents don’t get home till five and she keeps inviting me round.’

‘And you do what....help her with her homework?’

‘Not exactly……..well she likes me playing with her tits.’

‘Anything else?’

‘No, second base is off limits unless I chuck Moira and go out with her full time.’

‘Unbelievable.’

‘I thought about it, but I really like Moira, she’s bright, intelligent, and fun to be with. I could never chuck her. But Brenda, actually she’s as thick as two short planks, but her tits are fantastic. You won’t tell will you?’

‘As much as I’m disgusted by you behaviour, and a slightly bit jealous; your secret is safe with me. Go on, bugger off and sample the delights of Big Brenda, just be careful that she doesn’t suffocate you.’

‘You’re a mate,’ with that Keith hurriedly cycled off, shouting ‘think of me.’

That’s the last thing I will think of, thought Nick, my blood pressure wouldn’t stand it.

Nick left his bicycle in Bushels the Builders yard and walked to Stanford’s the Butchers in Catherine Street, five doors from Headings and Watts paper shop.

 ‘Hello young Nick, haven’t seen you for a while,’ said Mr Stanford, the owner of the butchers shop.
‘Nice to see you to Mr Stanford, how’s business?’ replied Nick.

‘Doing quite nicely; come for yours sausages?

‘That’s right, mums to lazy to fetch them,’ said Nick jokingly.

‘Charlie,’ shouted Mr Stanford. ‘Can you bring through the order for Mrs Allen?’

In a few seconds Charlie appeared carrying Nick’s sausages wrapped up in white paper.

‘Here you are lad,’ handing the parcel to Nick.

‘You haven’t met my new assistant, have you?’ asked Mr Stanford. ‘Charlie this is Nick; Nick this is Charlie,’ 

‘Nice to meet you,’ said Charlie’ now offering his hand. Nick took a closer look at Charlie. He was a big bloke with ginger hair; he was wearing a butcher’s apron with his sleeves rolled up showing his large forearms on which the right one had a tattoo. Nick could feel his legs buckle and the blood drain from his head.’

‘You alright Nick?’ asked Mr Stanford. ‘You look all faint.’

‘Sorry’ said Nick, trying to compose himself. ‘Don’t know what happened there, felt a bit giddy.’

‘You best get yourself home and have a lie down,’ said Mr Stanford.

Nick didn’t need to be told twice; he wobbled out of the door, located his bike and cycled home in record time. Nick just dumped his bicycle outside the back door, rushed in and said, ‘Hi mum, must use the phone.’


The phone rang twice before it was answered by an attractive sounding female. ‘St Albans Police Station, can I help you?’


‘I need to speak to DI James, it’s urgent.’


‘Hold the line caller; I’ll see if he’s available.’


After a few clicks Nick heard a familiar voice, ‘DI James, can I help you?’


‘I’ve found him, I’ve found Charlie Davis.’

‘Okay, calm down, take a deep breath and tell me again.’

Nick took a deep breath and said slowly, ‘Charlie Davis is working at Stanford the Butchers in Catherine Street.’
‘Are you sure?’
‘I’m sure, he fits the description given by Reg Willis exactly; right down to the tattoo with the name Polly on it.’

‘Okay, well done; leave it us. I’ll let you know the outcome.’ With that he hung up.

Friday 10 July 1964

Nick was relaxed in front of the Television watching Manfred Mann perform their latest release You Gave Me Someone to Love on Ready Steady Go. He quite liked track but didn’t think it was as good as their previous songs. ‘I think it will be a miss,’ he said in his best David Jacobs voice.

There was a knock on the front door, again Mrs Allen answered it. ‘Not you again, would you like me to fix up a bed; you’re here more than you are at the station.’

Ignoring the sarcasm, he replied ‘is he in?’
‘I think you know the way now.’

Nick looked up and by the look on the policeman’s face he could tell it was not good news. ‘No luck then?’

‘Not really, we have interviewed Charlie and almost everything you said was true; except the bit about murdering Archie. He said that he had no malice against Archie; he was surprised to see him as he thought he was dead. He just wanted to talk to him and catch up old times. He said he forgave him from running away and he would have probably done the same thing. But it was all in the past.’

‘But that doesn’t mean he didn’t kill him.’

‘Unfortunately we have no evidence that he was anywhere near the school and he has a water-tight alibi. They put the time of death at between eight and ten in the morning. Archie opened the shop at six with Mr Stanford and he was there all morning. We have loads of witnesses who saw him after the shop opened at seven thirty. My gut feeling is that he done it, but there is no way he could have been in two places at once. We’ll keep an eye on our Mr Davis, but for the time being we have to keep looking.’ 
Wednesday 22 July 1964

Nick was feeling tired and depressed as he sat all alone in Sally’s café nursing a strawberry milkshake. Only two more schooldays, then six weeks holiday, and how he was looking forward to a week at the Holiday Camp. The Juke-box played Don’t Let the Sun Catch You Crying by Gerry and the Pacemakers. The last year was beginning to take its toll, too much excitement for one fourteen year old; he also felt lonely. He hadn’t seen much of Keith during the last few weeks. If he wasn’t seeing Moira he was seeing Big Brenda. Just good friends, he would say. More like Bosom Buddies thought Nick, knowing Keith’s weakness. He hadn’t seen Don either since their visit to Hill End Hospital. The patients really shook him up and his mum had decided that Nick was a bad influence and stopped Don seeing him. Last he heard, Don had joined the scouts and was now tying knots and doing bob-a-job for elderly people. 

He had visited Mrs Taylor on several occasions, the first to explain about Archie’s sister Sally.  On subsequent visits he was informed that Mrs Taylor and Sally were getting on really well and Sally had made significant improvement and it had been suggested that Sally should visit Mrs Taylor at weekends with the view to live there permanently.

He was also upset about an article he had read in this morning’s paper. One of his favourite footballers, John White, the Tottenham Hotspur inside forward, was killed yesterday. Apparently he was sheltering from a thunderstorm under a tree at the Crew’s Hill Golf Club, when he was struck by lightening, he was 27.

The end of year exams had been a disaster, Maths was okay, could have done that with my eyes shut he thought. Unfortunately that had happened during the History and Geography exams. For some strange reason he had been selected to represent the school in the 800 yards race at the inter-schools competition at Clarence Park. He managed to finished third and was lucky not to be disqualified when a boy whom he overtook in the straight mysteriously fell over. Still it was nice to her his name read out over the public address system………’and in third place Nick Allen, Sandridge Grammar School.’

Being on his own most nights Nick had taken a greater interest in Pop Music. His favourite group the Zombies had released their first Single She’s Not There
. The song was aired on Juke Box Jury and guest panellist George Harrison had raved about it. House of the Rising Sun by the Animals which had just been knocked off the number one spot by the Rolling Stones had revolutionised the slow dance. It was over four minutes long, nearly twice as long as other slow songs. Holding a lovely girl in your arms, on the dance floor, for all that time …heaven.
Nick had also been watching a lot of television; his favourites were Bonanza, Hancock’s Half Hour and Top of the Tops. He still preferred Ready Steady Go but that might be because he fancied Cathy McGowan. He also used to watch Emergency Ward Ten with his mum, which he swears had nothing to do with the very attractive Jill Browne who played Nurse Carole Young.
He was also worried about his future. He would be fifteen at Christmas, which allowed him to leave school at Easter. Was he ready for work? His dad had encouraged him to leave as soon as possible and take up an apprenticeship, but his mum argued against that. She had suggested he stayed on at school and take his ‘O’ levels. 

The reason he was taking his time drinking his milkshake was that Ron Hart, the manager of the paper shop, where he worked, had asked Nick to pop in and see him at four thirty. He had a feeling that he was in trouble and that one of his customers had made a complaint against him. He had been expecting it. It was all because of that horrible dog at 3 Branch Road. Recently Nick had been rolling their newspaper up very tightly; then opening the letterbox very slowly resting the paper on the lip. When the black beast jumped up at the letterbox he would ram the paper in, using all his might. Most days he would hit the dog’s nose, but occasionally hit him in the eye. A good shot would make the dog yelp and scurry away. So what if he got the sack, he could always get another paper round.
He slowly cycled round the corner into Catherine Street and left his bike next door in Bushels the Builders yard. Like a prisoner walking to the gallows Nick entered the shop. Mr Hart was in his usual place behind the counter and his face lit up when he saw Nick.

‘Hello Nick, dead on time; that’s what I like,’ said Mr Hart, looking up at the clock on the wall. ‘I’ve been very impressed with you since you started working here and I was wondering if you would like the job of marking up in the mornings. It would mean starting a bit earlier, at six, but there will be more pay, obviously. What do you say?’  
Nick was taken back a bit,’ er, well, yeh, that would be great. Thank very much.’

‘I know you are on holiday next week, so if you could start the Monday after, Barry, our present marker will train you up, and he’ll be leaving the following Saturday.’

‘That’s fantastic; I don’t know how to thank you.’

‘You don’t have to; I think you’ll do a great job. We’ll be a dream team.’

‘My mum will be ever so pleased.’ 

‘So will that dog in Branch Road.’

They both burst out laughing.

‘I think I’ll treat myself to some sweets to celebrate.’
‘You do that Nick while I serve this little girl.’

Nick picked up a Jamboree Bag, a packet of Love Hearts, a packet of Opal Fruits and a Fry’s Peppermint Cream.

Mr Hart had just served the little girl with two frozen Jubblys. 

‘I hope they don’t melt before I get home,’ she said as she walked out of the shop.

Nick had just paid for his sweets when it hit him. He thought, I know how he did it, it’s so obvious, and why did it take me so long to figure it out?. He rushed out into the street and ran down to the butchers shop. Charlie Davis was in there all on his own. Without thinking of the consequences he entered the shop and shouted, ‘I know how you did it, I know how you murdered Archie Taylor.

If Charlie was surprised by this revelation, he didn’t show it. He just continued scrubbing down the chopping block with salt. 

‘And how was that? he asked.

‘You used ice, you made big blocks of ice and made Archie stand on them. You got him drunk then kidnapped him and put him in the butchers van. Then you made him stand on the ice while you strung him up. Then you burnt his hands so he couldn’t pull himself up the rope.’ Nick was speaking so fast he was struggling to breath. ‘He must have standing there for hours, he daren’t move. Then when the sun came up the ice started to melt and he slowly died of strangulation. You fiend.’

‘Well, you little smarty pants, got it all worked out, haven’t you?’

‘Absolutely, you’ll hang for this.’
Archie just continued scrubbing, the said, ‘Maybe I will, maybe I won’t, but first tell me how did you know it was me. ‘
‘The landlord of the Farriers Arms gave me a description of you and I recognised you that day I came in for my sausages.’

‘No, I can’t believe that, there must be more.’

‘My mum once told me, never to get a tattoo. If you do something wrong they can always recognise you by you tattoo.’

‘Very good.’

Then Nick, for some reason said, ‘Who’s Polly? And why did you choose the school to kill him’

‘Well I must admire you detective work or shear luck, so I’ll tell you the whole story. I think you deserve to know. I was born in St Albans and attended Sandridge Grammar School. I used to sit under that tree during the summer, reading a book, or doing my homework or just shading from the sun. So it was ironic that Archie had organised a cricket match there next day. Anyway when the war broke out my parents decided to more to Norfolk, they thought St Albans was too near London and it would be safer there. As it happened I was lucky enough to be stationed at RAF Feltwell. Polly, who lived in Thetford and I became sweethearts. In 1942 my plane was shot down over Holland. Four of us survived, one died. Archie and I got separated from the other two. We hid in an irrigation ditch for a while then I got shot. We knew that the Germans were approaching, so Archie decided to make a run for it leaving me at the mercy of those bastards. They shot me in both legs and I became very ill. After months in various hospitals I was finally sent to Stalag Luft 6 where I stayed until the end of the war. I met ‘Dixie’ Deans; he got an MBE after the war. I also met the other two from my plane, George Hawkins and Bob Barker. Neither of them knew what happened to Archie; we assumed he must have been killed. When I finally got back to blighty I found out that Polly had married a GI called Chuck and gone to live in Louisville, Kentucky. After the war I trained as a butcher and eventually got my own business; I never married. But during the last five years my business was going down the pan. I started drinking and gambling and I become bankrupt. I then decided to make a fresh start and move back to St Albans. You can imagine my surprise when I walked into the Farriers Arms and saw Archie. As I expect you know, he just panicked and walked out of the pub. I popped back to the pub a few times afterwards, but I never saw him. At first I just wanted to talk to him but as the time went on I began thinking about all the suffering I’d been through and started blaming him. I thought he should pay for what he put me through. For a few days it became an obsession and I just wanted to kill him. I wanted him to suffer slowly just like I did. That’s when I came up with the hanging on ice idea. Then I saw him coming out of the pub on that Friday. I told him that I just wanted a chat. You know, for old time’s sake. I said I didn’t blame him for what he had done. I would have done the same thing in his position and war makes a man do funny things. Anyway, we started to get on really well, he told me about his life and how much he was looking forward to the cricket match tomorrow. We went for a walk and sat on a bench in the Abbey Orchard. I had a bottle of whisky with me and we celebrated our reunion. He seemed so relieved and he got stuck into the whisky. When the bottle was finished he was well gone. I managed to walk him back to my van and as soon he was seated he passed out. I drove back to the shop, got the ice blocks out of the cold store and drove to the school. It didn’t take much to break the lock on the gate to the field. Well you know the rest.’  
‘Very moving,’ said Nick sarcastically. ‘But it makes no difference you are still a murderer.’ 
‘And I suppose you expect me to come quietly.’
Nick hadn’t thought about that. Even with his training there was no way he was going to overpower this man. Unfortunately whilst he was thinking of his options Charlie had slowly come from behind the counter, locked the shop door and turned the open sign to closed. Even though he was a big man with a limp, he was still pretty fast on his feet and grabbed Nick before he had chance to move.

‘Let me go, you brute,’ Nick cried.
‘I must say you were very clever with the ice, but it will be your downfall, not mine.’

  With Nick, firmly held by one arm, he dragged him towards the shop freezer and with the other hand he opened it.

‘Time for you to cool off,’ said Charlie, as he threw Nick into the freezer. 
The last thing Nick saw was a rack full of animal carcasses before the freezer door shut and was plunged into absolute darkness. ‘Shit,’ screamed Nick. ‘Why does this always happen When will I learn to think first. How the hell am I going to get out of here?
‘Let me out, let me out.’ He screamed, but he knew no one would answer.

So this was it, the end, thought Nick. Nick Allen, born 14 December 1949, died 22 July 1964.  What would they put on my gravestone? Couldn’t keep out of trouble or If only he thought first, acted afterwards. Where’s Keith or Don when you need them? Bet Keith will have his head between Big Brenda’s enormous breasts. Don will be polishing his woggle. Would Moira cry? She was a great snogger, pity I never got to touch her breasts. 

It was getting colder and Nick’s eyes were getting heavy.  He had nodded off a couple of times when his attention was caught by a bright light in front of him. Nick tried to shied his eyes when he realised that a man was standing in front of him. The man was tall and thin and his face was vaguely familiar. He was wearing an all-white football kit and was carrying a ball. Nick then recognised him.
‘Hey, I know you; you’re John White. Really upset to read that you died yesterday.’

‘Not as sorry as I was,’ said John, in a broad Scottish accent.
Nick laughed, ‘they used to call you the ghost and now you are one.’

‘Aye, very funny.’

‘So, why are you here?’

‘Well, they’ve asked me to form a football team. There’s a match on Saturday against the Red Devils and I wondered if you would like to play?’

‘Well, that would be nice. But does that mean I’m dead?’

‘No’ not yet; give it a couple of hours. But I thought I’d ask before the other team try to sign you up.’

‘Well, if I die, put me down.’

‘Thanks see you in a couple of hours.’ With that the light faded.
Charming, thought Nick. Not even dead yet and there after me. Nick stood up and starting jumping up and down, but it was difficult. He had no idea what the time was. The luminous hands on watch were blurred due to the frost on the face. Again, as his eyes dropped another light appeared. This time it transformed into  a chubby man in a white suit with printed flowers on and wearing a hat. 

‘I know you; you’re that Cheeky Chappy, what’s his name? I know Max Miller, my mum loved you.’

‘I’m glad; so let’s get on. Laughter will keep you alive, so here goes.’ 

Nick sat down, pulled his knees up under his chin and wrapped his arms around them

‘I got two books, a white book and a blue book. And by that you can gather I got two sorts of stories.

To test you out, why did the chicken cross the road? To get to the other side. What, no? You got to go further back than that. These are old jokes. Why did the chicken cross the road? For some foul reason. 

It says in the white book ... listen, 

There was a little girl 

Who had a little curl 

Right in the middle of her forehead; 

And when she was good, she was very, very good, 

And when she was bad she was very, very popular. 

Now listen! You can't expect too much from the white book. This is the book. This is where we all get pinched! I don't care. I'll go. I've been there before, I have. I won't walk. I make them get the barrow out. I'm on the BLUE BOOK now. 

She was but a village maiden, 

Who's to say she was to blame? 

But alas a wicked squire 

Took away her honest name. 

So she journeyed up to London 

Seeking to forget her shame. 

When another wicked squire 

Took away her other... 

'Ere... I got another one here. 

You heard about the Yorkshire man who came to London and couldn't get some Yorkshire pudding. He went home and battered himself to death. 

Mary had a little lamb 

Who acted very silly. 

She plucked the wool from off its back 

And smacked its Piccadilly. 

Which would you like, the blue book or the white book? You like both don't you. 

Listen, I was in Spain four years ago and in Spain all the girls wear little knives in the top of their stockings. I found that out. So I said to myself, I'll find out exactly what the idea is so I said, "What's the idea of wearing a knife at the top of the stocking?" She said, "That's to defend my honour." I said, "What, a little tiny knife like that?" I said, "If you were in Brighton, you'd want a set of carvers!" 

Mary had a little bear 

To which she was so kind. 

I often see her bear in front... 

I'll get on to the next joke here. 

Jack and Jill went up the hill 

Just like two cock linnets. 

Jill came down with half-a-crown, 

She wasn't up there two ... 'Ere. 

I better stay on the blue book ... eh? I think so, yeah? 

Adam and Eve in the Garden dwelt, 

They were so happy and jolly. 

I wonder how they would have felt, 

If all the leaves had been holly!
Nick was laughing his frozen socks off when the light faded and Max disappeared. 

‘It won’t be long now,’ said Nick, to himself. ‘No one is coming; they would have been here now.’ 
Perhaps I should try and leave a message he thought, but how? 

He stared groping around in the dark trying to find anything that he could use. He wasn’t aware at first of another light starting to appear. This time, two figures were starting to appear. The first was a man in a cape and a Deerstalker hat, smoking a pipe; next to him sniffing the carcasses, a blood hound.

‘Sherlock Holmes,’ gasped Nick. ‘I didn’t think you were real.’
‘Do any of us know what is real and what is not?’ said Sherlock.

‘That’s true.’

Sherlock made himself comfortable in an armchair that wasn’t there a second ago and putting his fingertips together as was his custom said ‘I was impressed by your deduction; cunning idea that, using the ice to confuse the time of death.’

‘I should have worked it out earlier.’

‘I agree, you should have asked yourself “why are my trousers wet when all the grass around me is bone dry.’

‘Silly mistake.’

‘Never mind you did well, nasty piece of work, that Charlie Davis.’

‘Never trust a carrot top, I read your case The Red-Headed League.

‘Absolutely,’ Sherlock smiled..

‘Is it just me, or do all ginger people smell funny?’

Sherlock laughed and wriggled in his chair, but didn’t answer the question.

‘Will I die?’ asked Nick in a serious voice.

‘We’ll all die one day. But today is not your day to die. I’m sure you’ll be rescued. As you know I died once and somehow was brought back to life. I think there is a guardian angel looking over you. But I must go know, there is a bit of trouble upstairs, someone has stolen the chief angel’s harp. But remember what I’ve always said “when you have eliminated the impossible, whatever remains, however improbable, must be the truth?”’
Nick felt his hair, it was frozen, his jeans were frozen and he was having trouble to move. ‘For Christ sake, come and rescue me,’ he shouted.

Almost instananeously another light appeared, then standing in front of him, legs apart, hands on hips wearing a white vest and army fatiques was his late self-defence teacher, Mr Campion.

‘Come on lad, on your feet. The only way to keep alive is keeping warm. So we’ll start with some star jumps.’ He started, Nick followed. ‘One-two, one-two, that’s it, keep up.’

The star jumps were followed, by squat jumps, then running on the spot. It was hard but Nick was determined to keep up.

‘I think you’ll win the girl, if you survive this,’ said Mr Campion.
‘What girl,’ replied Nick. His mind was drowsly, he wasn’t thinking straight.
‘Moira, who do you think I mean, her mother,’ laughed Mr Campion.   

‘That would be nice,’ Nick struggled say.

‘I wouldn’t mind a crack at her mum myself, fine looking woman.’

‘Certainly better than the last one you lived with,’ gasped Nick, falling to his knees.

Did he hear a noise? He looked up, Mr Campion had disapearred. Another noise, voices maybe. He was drifting, he could feel it, his time had come. He placed his head down gently on his hands and curled up into the fetal position.. Another light appeared, it started with a thin strip, the got wider.

‘He’s overhere.’ ‘Call an ambulance.’ ‘Is he alive?’ ‘Quicky, put your coat round him.’
Thursday 23 July 1964
The first thing Nick saw when he opened his eyes was the beautiful face of a young woman.  

‘The face of an angel, I must be in heaven,’ sighed Nick.

‘Not this time Nick Allen, but it getting close,’ replied the young women.

That face and the voice, I recognise them from somewhere, thought Nick. It took a few seconds for him to come to his senses, yes he also recognised where his was. 

‘Nurse Hickey, nice to see you again,,’ beamed Nick.

‘So you’re back with us, getting a bit of a habit, this. You gave us a bit of a scare last night, almost lost you a couple of times.’
‘Are you still engaged to your boyfriend?’

‘I can see you’re on the mend; yes I am , and we’re very happy.’

‘Okay, just checking,’ said Nick, giving her his biggest smile.

Nick’s first visiter was D.I. James.

‘Before you start,’ said Nick. ‘I know I was in the wrong, I shouldn’t have confronted him on my own. It was impulsive, but I was so excited at solving the case.’
‘Well, let that be a lesson to you lad, you almost died in that freezer,’ replied D.I. James. So come on, how did he do it?’

Nick spent the next few minutes explaing about the blocks of ice and how Charlie had forced him into the cold store. 

‘Anyway, how did you find me?’ asked Nick.

‘Apparently your friend Moira thought she saw you enter the butcher’s shop. She had something to tell you, so she hung around waiting for you. When you didn’t appear, she though she must have been mistaken. Anyway, she decided to call on you, it was about eight and she found your mum in a bit of a state, because you hadn’t come home for you tea. Moira told your mum what she thought she saw and then your dad phoned us. By the time we had contacted Mr Stanford to open the shop it was nearly nine o’clock. What time did you go into the butchers?’

‘It must have been about a quarter to five. Have you caught Charlie?’

‘Not yet, I sent a patrol car round to his digs, but he had packed up and gone. We’ll catch him soon. Still look on the bright side, if we can’t pin the murder on him we’re sure to do him for the attempted murder of Nick Allen. I’m glad you’re okay, I’ll send round a unformed officer to take a proper statement when you are feeling a bit better.’
DI James smiled and left Nick alone in his bed. Nick had just started to drop off when his parents came rushing down the ward, Mrs Allen, in her usual flap. For the next hour she never stopped talking, and when she did, she started sobbing. Nurse Hickey could see that Nick was getting stressed and suggested that they came back this evening after Nick had rested.  

Nick slept most of the afternoon and was totally refreshed when his parents returned to visit; this time his friend Keith was with them. The atmosphere was a lot easier and the four of the chatted away quite merrily without any raised voices or hysterics. His mum had brought in some comics and a small bunch of grapes, which she had consumed by the time they left. Keith thought that Nick might need something more stimulating and had nipped in the paper shop and bought him a puzzle book and a pencil with a rubber on the end. Nick never got to ask Keith about Moira or Big Brenda, which would have to wait for another time. All being well they said that Nick should be fit enough to go home tomorrow. 
It was about nine thirty, the lights had been dimmed and most of the other patients were asleep, when Nick noticed a doctor walking slowly down the ward inspecting each patient. From the position he was lying it was difficult to see his face but he instantly recognised the limp. He panicked for a moment, then slowly reached out and grabbed the pencil that was resting on his bedside cabinet. The doctor approached Nick’s bed, picked up his medical chart, looked at it, the replaced it on the end of the bed. Nick had one chance and one chance only, assuming that the doctor was who he thought he was. Nick’s fears were confirmed when a voice said ‘you won’t escape a second time.’
That was all Nick needed to hear, in one swift move he slung the sheets off with his left hand and with his right hand stuck the pencil in Charlie’s left eye. The scream was deafening, then the lights were turned on and doctors and nurses appeared to investigate. As Charlie fell to his knees writhing in agony Nick said, ‘that’s for Archie.’
Saturday 25 July 1964

‘The taxi’s here,’ shouted Mr Allen.

The usual pre-holiday panic ensued as the Allen’s grabbed their cases, making sure the gas, electric and water were turned off. 

‘Are all the windows shut?’ asked Mrs Allen.

‘I’ve checked them,’ replied Nick.

As they made their way to the taxi Mr Allen held back and collared Nick.

‘Now, listen lad, on this holiday you will do exactly what I tell you to do, understand?’ 

‘Yes dad.’

‘During the day you will stay on the beach and play with your brother.’

‘Yes dad.’

‘And if you are very good, I may treat you to a donkey ride.’

‘Thanks dad.’

‘In the evening you will sit next to me in the ballroom and watch the entertainment, understand?’

‘Yes dad.’

‘I might even let you have a few games of bingo, even though you are under age.’

‘Gee, thanks dad.’

‘I’m glad you understand.’

‘Just one question, dad.’

‘What’s that?’

‘Who’s Tom Sawyer?’

As they were packing the suitcases into the back of the taxi, Nick noticed Moira running towards them.’

‘In you get lad,’ said Mr Allen.

‘Just a minute dad,’ Nick turned to Moira. ‘I’m glad you came, I wanted to thank you for rescuing me.’

‘It was nothing,’ she replied trying to catch her breath.

‘What was it you wanted to tell me?’

She smiled, ‘well I just wanted to tell you that Keith and I split up. Apparently he’s being seeing someone else.’

‘The bastard, I didn’t know, I swear.’ said Nick, with his fingers crossed. 

‘I not that bothered, but it does mean that I’m free to go out with you.’

‘Well I don’t think we should rush into it. It might seem like you are going out with me on the rebound. I think we should leave it for a while.’

‘You’re absolutely right, how long are you away for?

‘Seven days.’

‘That settled then, if I feel the same in a weeks time we’ll start going out.’

Nick looked into Moira’s eyes and said ‘I love you.’ 

Moira smiled back and said ‘I love you too.’

All eyes in the taxi were focused on the couple as their lips met.  
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� Health & Efficiency was first published in 1900. Back then the magazine covered health topics such as diet, exercise, herbalismand general advice on living a healthy and efficient life.In the 1920s when nudists began publicising their activities and sun clubs began to form, Health & Efficiency became an early champion of their cause through publishing their letters, articles and photos. Later, this material occupied a greater proportion of the magazine, particularly as it absorbed other naturist and health periodicals, including Health and Vim and Sunbathing and Health Magazine





� Call up the Groups reached number 3 in the charts in July 1964


� She’s Not There reached number 12 in the charts in August 1964
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